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Wednesday, July 3, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  We are here today for day 3 of an oral hearing with Toronto Hydro for a rate application for rates effective 2020 to 2024, OEB file number EB-2018-0165.
Preliminary Matters:


And we left off on Friday with panel 1 still affirmed, and just before we begin again I just wanted to check to see if there are any preliminary matters.

MR. KEIZER:  None from Toronto Hydro, Madam Chair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, it's Richard Stephenson on behalf of the PWU.  I am going to be up today for cross-examination.  And one of the areas that I am planning on covering is this issue about the comparison between externally performed work and internally performed work, the cost relativities, which, as you know, there is some confidential evidence about.

Obviously I am mindful about that issue, and I was just going to be seeking some guidance from the Board in two aspects of that.  Number one is, I know the Board is contemplating making some kind of a ruling around that issue, and the question is, are you in a position to do that today before I get there, because that will affect how we proceed.

If the answer to that is no, then there is a follow-up question about, how do you want to handle that in terms of logistics, because I just want to be efficient.

MS. ANDERSON:  We actually do intend to have a ruling, and thank you for raising that, because it may make sense then to have SEC go before you to give us the time to finalize that before you begin.

Is that -- Mr. Rubenstein, does that work?  Because at the moment we have Energy Probe and then you, and instead if we could switch the order to do SEC, then we will have our ruling, and then -- I think that would be more efficient for everyone, if that is fine.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Certainly, that's fine with me.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I think that may be the best thing to do if everyone is fine with that.

Okay.  Seeing nothing further, I believe -- Dr. Higgins?  I'm sorry.  Dr. Higgins, correct?

DR. HIGGIN:  No "S".

MS. ANDERSON:  No "S".  Higgin.  We will get it correct.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 1, resumed

Githu Mundenchira,
Aida Cipolla,
Elias Lyberogiannis,
Sushma Narisetty,
Hani Taki,
Jim Trgachef; Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel.  And good morning to Toronto Hydro's panel.  So as you know, I am Roger Higgin.  I am a consultant to Energy Probe.  My questions are just about all related to system reliability, with one question about the scorecard update later.

So I prepared the compendium.  I hope it has been distributed, and it has been -- needs an exhibit number, please.

MR. MILLAR:  K3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.


DR. HIGGIN:  K3.1?  Thank you.  So just looking at the compendium, page 2, you will see a list of all of the evidence that is in the compendium, but of course, since I only have 45 minutes I won't be going through all of that, but it is all very relevant to the topic, so I will have to highlight things.

So anyway, I have also reviewed the transcript, volume 1, which -- at pages, particularly 37 to 40, with Mr. Rubenstein about system reliability, including the interrogatory, our interrogatory U-EP-64.

So as a result of that I have been able to cut down my time somewhat on this cross-examination.  So if we could turn now to the compendium and start looking at page 7 of the compendium.

Just to orient you, this is an interrogatory that we had asked, and we were then directed, as you see in the yellow, to another interrogatory, which is 1B-SEC-17, which provides a summary of all of the system reliability information for the prior CIR period up to two-17.  So that is what we're looking at here.

So we can look at it, and briefly can you tell us -- summarize what has happened to system reliability during that period, two-13 to two-17, just summarize, please.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Generally reliability has improved.

DR. HIGGIN:  Is that for all of the indicators?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Not for all.

DR. HIGGIN:  So which one hasn't improved?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  MAIFI has not improved.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So now we should look to two-18 as well, briefly.  And I can tell you the numbers, subject to your check, or you can look at the -- back to the compendium on page 5.  It doesn't matter.

Anyway, it shows that SAIDI went to 0.81 and SAIFI to 1.14, further improvements.  That is your corporate scorecard.  I want the EDS scorecard, please, which is in the compendium, I believe, on page -- another page.

Just to give you the -- do you recollect those numbers?  Are they correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The SAIDI and SAIFI numbers you just quoted sound about right to me.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Thank you.  That is all we really needed to confirm.  There has been a slight improvement again in two-18.

So can we go to page 8 of the compendium.  And as you said, we are now looking at MAIFI.  Just describe, briefly, what MAIFI is relative to the other aspects of interruptions to customers.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  MAIFI stands for momentary average interruption frequency index.  It is -- it represents the experience of an average customer for interruptions that lasted less than one minute.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Thank you.

So what does that mean to the customer, in terms of the total number of interruptions?  Because SAIFI is something like 2.7 times more than the other longer interruptions.  The short-term interruptions, 2.7, 2.8 times more.  Am I correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't believe that's true, Dr. Higgin.

DR. HIGGIN:  Can you explain then what the number means?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If you are asking to compare SAIFI to MAIFI and the relative proportions --


DR. HIGGIN:  The impact on customer.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The impact on the customer?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So MAIFI would be an interruption that is less than one minute.  Other interruptions would be greater than one minute.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  But the frequency -- we're talking about the frequency of those for a customer.  Are they more frequent or less frequent than the system-wide?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps the easiest way to do it is to go back to page 7 of your compendium.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  On page 7, I am looking at the table in response to 1B-SEC-17 at the bottom.  We can take 2017 as an example.  If you would like me to compare the SAIFI number to the MAIFI number, then in 2017 SAIFI was 1.18.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And MAIFI was 2.5.

DR. HIGGIN:  In terms of number of interruptions, if you are sitting there as a customer of your company, what does that mean to the number of interruptions?  That is all I am trying to understand.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That would mean that the average customer on Toronto Hydro's system would experience -- would have experienced in 2017, 1.18 sustained interruptions greater than a minute.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And the average customer on Toronto Hydro's system would have experienced 2.52 momentary interruptions.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So you add those together, that's the customer experience, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That would be what an average customer would experience, if you are looking at both momentary interruptions and sustained interruptions.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So that's the key that I am trying to come to here is the impact on the average customer of MAIFI.

It is more frequent, much more frequent than system-wide, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, I think in 2017, there was 2.5 momentary interruptions and in 2017, there was 1.18 sustained interruptions.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So to repeat, momentary is more frequent?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So let's look at MAIFI a bit more.  Can you turn to page 16 of the compendium?

This is coming from an interrogatory that we asked, which is quite long, but it deals with MAIFI and it also updates the data to 2018.

So in the interests of time, can you just briefly go and look back at the chart on page 14, briefly, okay?  So there you can see the SAIFI, and this chart is now updated to 2018.

And actually the number is higher for 2018, if you look at it in the table.  2.78 has gone up.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  There is more momentary interruptions in 2018.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's the issue of why we're concerned about this, to be very frank.

So coming back to that, let's look at the extract on page 16.  So the question is -- this is your explanation.  So what is causing the high level of MAIFI and the increase, continuing increase in MAIFI?  That is the question that we're trying to address here.

So you respond and maybe you can tell us what are the two or three main causes for MAIFI-type interruptions?  If you can just tell us from your information what are the main causes?

MS. NARISETTY:  Certainly, Dr. Higgin.  If I can draw your attention to our response to IR U-VECC-62.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm, yes I turned it up, hmm-hmm.

MS. NARISETTY:  In here we explain some of the reasons why MAIFI has increased.  So for example, we have talked about how we have limited SCADA coverage and the use of manual processes.

And over the last few years, we have been expanding our SCADA load coverage, as well as converting our 4 kV customers to a higher voltage system, like the 133.8 or 27.6 kV, which has SCADA coverage.

So this improving SCADA coverage over time, it just means that we are capturing more momentary interruptions in our system, and this has contributed to MAIFI increasing.

DR. HIGGIN:  Because you are catching it?  However, can you confirm that you still don't know what the main causes are, except defective equipment, about one-third due to that, and the 60 percent -- there’s other causes, but 60 percent are unknown and you don't know what the causes are

MS. NARISETTY:  That is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So it is very difficult to deal with something that you don't know, okay, what is causing it, correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  It is correct that unknown does -- is a major contributor to MAIFI.  However, we are taking steps to understand the unknown outages better.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  So I am going to leave -- you will be glad -- leave MAIFI and go back a bit to SAIFI and SAIDI.  And that is the system-wide interruptions, the frequency and the duration; we will go back to that.

So if we could go to page 17 of the -- just to orient you, this is the IR U-EP-64 that Mr. Rubenstein pulled up on day one.  This is the interrogatory.

What this is doing, we asked you the question: Where does Toronto Hydro sit relative to its Ontario peer group?  That is the other thing.

In other words, we're trying to benchmark Toronto Hydro on SAIDI, that's the -- SAIDI is the duration, and SAIFI.  So that is the purpose of this IR.

And the response, turn to page 18.  I just highlighted to make things quick that you have shown us on the charts where you are.  Then there is a highlighted statement.  Maybe you could just highlight that, because that is perhaps the main finding of this inquiry, and your position.  That's the highlighted on page 18.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Dr. Higgin, the statement says that with respect to 2017 Toronto Hydro's reliability, performance is worse than average for SAIFI, third quartile, and better than average for SAIDI.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And you actually improved a little bit in 2018, to be fair to you, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Our individual performance improved slightly, but we do not have -- at the time of this, we didn't have the peer group, so I cannot comment on our performance relative to the peer group.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then if you could turn to page 19, the concern that we are trying to address here, just to be clear, is set out in the highlighted passages.

We're trying to understand the connection of your position as a less-than-average performer in SAIFI interruptions, that's the frequency, and a better, slightly better than the others in terms of SAIDI.

We are trying to understand the underlying aspects of that, and where you are going to go to do something to try to get to, say, the average.  That is the purpose of these questions.

So could you just explain the connection?  We have highlighted these two passages, which seem to have indicated the connection with respect to where you think you should go going forward.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Dr. Higgin, if you are asking about the feedback that we received as part of our customer engagement efforts --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I am, thank you.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  -- with respect to reliability.  Customers told us three things and panel -- I believe panel 3 can speak to you specifically about customer engagement, customer materials.  But from an operations perspective, our interpretation was our customers were satisfied with the average performance that is being provided.

Customers, however, did identify areas that are performing more poorly than average as a priority for them, and they have asked that we improve performance there.

And what we also heard is our large customers did see reliability as a significant priority for them.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I'm going to look at that in a minute.  So just go to the second passage, that means you don't expect improvements.  Even though you have had improvements over the last five years, you don't expect that in future.  Is that what that says?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Our forecast for SAIDI and SAIFI is to maintain.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  So let's just go and talk a bit about the plan going forward, and we will start by having a look at your projections.

But first let's talk about the customer survey.  If you don't want to talk about this, I will have to go to panel 3, but I think it is fairly straightforward to read the exhibit on page 23, please.

Perhaps you could -- if you don't feel comfortable, that's fine.  But I have some questions that relate to that issue of customer satisfaction.

So the questions, if you are willing to take them now, I will give you the questions.

So looking at this, you see there are quite differences between residential GS greater than 50 and, as you just mentioned, the large customers.  There is differences.

So -- however, am I right that all of them rate system reliability at a high level?  Perhaps second to price?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, they all do rate reliability highly.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So I have some questions about the survey, and these are apparently the ones you may not want to do, because I have some questions about how the questions were formulated that came up with the results.  If you feel that those should go to panel 3, that's fine.

MR. KEIZER:  It would be best --


DR. HIGGIN:  I will put them on the record for counsel, and then you will know where I am going.  Okay?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So these are the questions about the survey.  So did the questions in the -- sorry, Madam Chair.  Did the questions in the section on system reliability indicate to customers these facts:  One, that TH system reliability had improved over the past five years?  Two, that Toronto Hydro's system reliability is still significantly worse than most Ontario distributors?  That's SAIFI I am talking about.  SAIFI.  And also, most of U.S. distributors?  Because that is what the PSE, Power System Engineering report says about SAIFI.  Those are the questions that I would like to have answered.

And then I will be wanting to relate that to the findings and so on and how Toronto Hydro is using those.  Those are the questions.

MR. KEIZER:  Those questions will be best placed with panel 3.

DR. HIGGIN:  I know, thank you.  So let's go back and look at the charts then that you have provided, and these are on page 24.  This is a response to School Energy Coalition's updated U-SEC-105.  And this shows your projections for SAIFI and then SAIDI.  So perhaps you could just orient us to the chart and what it says about where you have come from and where you are going.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The first chart that you see there is a SAIFI chart.  SEC had asked us in its -- edited from a chart we had on the presentation-day presentation that shows reliability over multiple rate periods, going back to 2006 for SAIFI.  The chart shows steady improvement.

DR. HIGGIN:  Including to two-18, right, which we just discussed?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  There has been improvement to 2018.  However, within the 2015 to 2018 period, performance has been within a narrower band than it has been in the past.

And our projections, based on the distribution system plan that is before the Board, are that we expect SAIFI to be maintained within that band going out to 2024.

DR. HIGGIN:  So what -- can you roughly give me what a level would be that you are trying to maintain at?  Is it the average of the five years before?  Is it to two-18?  What level are you trying to maintain at?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps if I can ask you to move to page 26 of your compendium.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And this table that you see here is included in the U-SEC 105 interrogatory that you have drawn my attention to, and the specific levels we forecast are contained at the bottom of that table.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, okay.  What I am trying to ask -- my question is, those levels that you are forecasting here appear to be, shall I say, for SAIFI -- let's talk about SAIFI -- staying at the same level?  This level.

I am trying to understand -- let's use a number.  1.20.  Is that the level you are trying to maintain?  But 1.2 is less than you had in two-18.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So it is worse than two-18.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It is .006 higher than what it was in two-18.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Now, looking at the trend line, look at one of the charts, but let's look at SAIFI, please, if I was -- I am not very good at these things, but if I was able to try and draw a trend line, where would that go?  If you kept doing what you have been doing during the period -- let's talk about the last five years starting at two-15, just two-15.  Where would that take us?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We did not do that analysis.  We could have done that analysis.  The reason we didn't do that analysis is because a trend line is really, in this particular case, backwards-looking.  We wanted to look forwards.  We wanted to understand how the programs that we have developed, the investments that we're planning to make, will impact system performance, and what we did was a forward-looking forecast, so we did not do a trend line.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I don't know that it's necessary to do it, but let's all say we all have eyes and we can all say where it would go, you know, if you continued with the line from two-15 we can all see where it would go, right?  It would improve.  The levels would improve if you put the -- on the trend line.

Would you agree with that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It's difficult for me to agree with that.  I haven't done that analysis, nor do I think it is relevant.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, then if it's got to be done, let's have the trend lines produced, particularly interested in the last five-year plan area, where things would go with the trend line, and please put a little dotted line that goes forward, if you can, because, you know, it would help us visually to look at it.

Are you willing to take an undertaking to do that?  So it is with respect to this interrogatory, School Energy Coalition interrogatory 105, and the chart to -- response to part (a), SAIFI, is to draw the trend line for the period from two-15 to two-18 and project that trend line.  That's the undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, the issue is, is that the witness has already indicated that they have not done that analysis, and I am not quite sure, quite honestly, what Dr. Higgin means by "trend line."

Effectively, you know, Toronto Hydro has looked at what they believe the next five years are, based upon their Distribution System Plan, which is to maintain reliability and to create a trend line, which is simply drawing it from that point in time without actually turning your mind to what that forecast is and the analysis that underpins it.  It doesn't seem to -- wouldn't make much sense.  But I think it is also unfair to ask Toronto Hydro now to recast its forecast based upon its DSP on a trend line that it hasn't yet done any analysis with respect to that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So let's go and look at page 25.  And let's look at either of the two charts.  I have highlighted the passage from part (c) of the response.  And this comes to the other issue that we are concerned about, is maintain doesn't have any targets.

And as we just discussed, it went from 1 point whatever up in -- from 2018 it rose, SAIDI/SAIFI.

So the question is, we have concern -- I know we have had a lot of argument -- questions that have been posed, VECC and others asking about the targets.  So it is not news to you that we are concerned that there aren't any targets, okay.

So perhaps you would like to explain, then, why you cannot provide any targets.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Just bear with me one minute, Dr. Higgin.

DR. HIGGIN:  You explain it in a VECC response, if you want to look at that.  I have read that.  So if you want to refer to that, if you would like to summarize.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, what I’ll do in a second -- actually, it is an undertaking from a technical conference that I will draw your attention to.  It is in your compendium.

In terms of quantifying our forecast going forward, we have been clear that we are looking for SAIDI and SAIFI to maintain performance.

We spoke a few minutes ago about the table on page 26 of your compendium that specifically outlines the baseline for maintain, as we have identified those numbers.

And subsequently, the undertaking that I was thinking about was JTC2.9 --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, on page 33.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  On page 33, and I have noticed that you have also highlighted a portion of this as well.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  What Toronto Hydro will not be in a position to do is make any final commitment on specific numbers until it has received the OEB's decision in this application.

Having said that, however, I think we have been fairly clear in setting very quantified benchmarks throughout our application with respect to SAIDI and SAIFI, with respect to other measures.

So all of that is on the record before the Board.

DR. HIGGIN:  But where -- just bring me back to that.  Where are those projections, other than those that you have given to PSE?  Those are the ones that relate to the line we have just looked for, but they're not targets.  Those are just projections.  There is a difference between a projection and a target.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Dr. Higgin, yes, those forecasts are in the table that I just drew your attention to.

Our target is to maintain performance for SAIDI and SAIFI, and we have put on record specifically the baseline numbers that we will be using to measure ourselves against with respect to maintaining performance.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And they are higher than 2018 for SAIFI?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, by .006.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, I think we have your answer on that one.  So the only question I have, just to follow up on that highlighted passage, is I was kind of concerned about the wording of that, as to why you wouldn't do it now, but you might do it after the Board's decision.

MS. COBAN:  I think that question would be better posed to panel 3, in terms of the role of the targets within the framework that we have proposed.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So we will ask that question to the other panel.  It was just that the highlighted was mapped to this panel.  That was why I asked the question.  They just discussed it with me.  All right.

Okay.  So the other thing I wanted to note is that if we look at page 26 again, and these are the numbers for your projections, okay, and I am looking at the actual projections for SAIFI and SAIDI which you discussed with me.

So I would like you to go then to page 27, please.  Now, just to orient you, this is, as you see at the top, technical conference undertaking, schedule JTC2.10.

This is the projections that you provided to PSE and PEG in order to run their econometric model for reliability, am I correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, you can look at them, but I have looked at the numbers and they don't match the charts that you have provided.  That is the issue -- or the table which is the table in the SEC 105.  They don't match.

So I could spend a lot of time trying to do that, but I am going to ask for an undertaking where you will reconcile the two and if there are differences in assumptions and all of that, because we would like to have on the record what is the real projection.  Is it the one in the charts over there, or is it the one here, or something different?  That is the reason for the undertaking.

So I will ask for the undertaking.  And this says:   Provide a table and charts that show the SAIDI and SAIFI reliability data and projections provided in U-SEC-105 to those provided to PSE and PEG, for example, in JTC2.10, appendix A.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Dr. Higgin, those two numbers are on two different bases.

You will notice the footnote on the bottom of page 27, which says the results are for five minutes or more momentary outages.  And we were speaking earlier about the Canadian definition, which is one minute.  So they are on two different bases.

DR. HIGGIN:  I thought that might be one of the reasons.  But if you do the analysis, it still doesn't seem to me to reconcile.

I understand the definition, because their model uses the American definition.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And you are using the Canadian.  And this MAIFI is the big difference, MAIFI.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In Ontario, the definition is one minute.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, or above for SAIFI, and the rest of it is classified as MAIFI, right?  Momentary, under one minute.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So you are telling me that is the only difference?  But you see, I would like to know on the record what your projection is and how that relates to the PSE and PEG models.  Okay.

If I can clarify the difference in definitions between the US database and the Canadian.  If that's the only one, I will try to explore it with them and see if there is a difference that results.  But otherwise, I am asking to have that reconciled some way or other.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I guess my struggle would be -- you asked what our projections are with respect to the PSE study and the definitions using the PSE study.

Those projections are on page 27 of your compendium, for both SAIFI and SAIDI -- SAIDI in hours, in this particular case.

And then on page 26, those are our projections with respect to how we report reliability.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm.  Yes, I understand the differences.

So you have checked that, and if we were to put them on the same basis, they would match?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I will certainly explore that further with PSE, because I have done a bit of work on this and I don't think they do match, okay.  But anyway, we will go from there.

Now, I think you will be happy to say -- I think we are nearly done on the system reliability, and I just have one small question that came up related to the updated scorecard, the EDS scorecard that you provided.  I am just going to find the reference here.

So the reference is Exhibit U, tab 1B, Schedule 1, updated.  That is the -- I don't have it on my compendium, so maybe we could pull it up.  It is in the update interrogatories -- in the evidence, Exhibit U, tab 1B, Schedule 1.

MR. KEIZER:  Dr. Higgin, I believe it may be at page 4 of your...

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I have it on page 4 as well.

So my question is very straightforward.  There it is, yes.  So if you look at the update, you come down the column called two-18, and you see the two-18 column?

Right.  So my questions are, why did you not provide the data on cost control?  I understand the CDM, because it's the IESO.  But those other metrics, efficiency, total cost per customer, and total cost per kilometre of line, why didn't you report those in the update?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I believe that would be a question for panel 3.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  All right.  I will put it to them.  So with that, those are my questions.  Thank you for -- thank you to Madam Chair.

MR. LADANYI:  Madam Chair, may I be permitted to ask two questions?

MS. ANDERSON:  Quick.

MR. LADANYI:  It will be quick.

MS. ANDERSON:  I believe the time for your organization is about done.

MR. LADANYI:  It is, it is.  If you can just turn
to -- they're both on Copeland.  If you could turn to Volume 1 of the transcript.  Page 125.

There in the middle of the page, this is a cross-examination by Mr. Rubenstein, and Mr. Trgachef is discussing the type of contract, and he's mentioning something called "design bid build".  And I was just going to ask for clarification.  What exactly is a design bid build contract?  It is at line 16.  And on the next page, by the way, you talk about an EPC contract, and I just wanted to know, if you can explain to us the difference between the two forms of contract.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Certainly, I can do that for you.

A design build contract is where we undertake three steps in the execution of completing our build.  The first part of that is the design process, where we would undertake the design of the project at hand.  And at that point that design would be utilized to solicit market for construction bids where proponents would respond to that tendering of services.  And with that, we would receive bids back for constructions in different areas.

As well, in a design bid build project, equipment would be as well procured out.  In our case in Copeland phase one that happened by us, the owner.

MR. LADANYI:  And what is -- yes, continue.

MR. TRGACHEF:  So an EPC contract is much different than a design-build contract.  An EPC contract is a single-source contract, where the contractor is responsible for all aspects of design procurement, project execution, cost control, and any conflicts resolution with subcontractors with minimum involvement in our case from Toronto Hydro.

The EPC proponent would assume full responsibility for things such as design, design changes, supply relationships, contract schedules, and so forth.

An EPC proponent would be responsible for any subcontractor delay claims, disputes, engineering changes, quality management, day-to-day coordination, and overall schedules.

MR. LADANYI:  You mentioned sole-source at the start of that paragraph.  What do you mean by "sole source"?  Was it not tendered?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I believe I indicated single source versus a sole source.  They're two different things.

MR. LADANYI:  So you still went out to tender?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Absolutely.

MR. LADANYI:  And I have one question for Ms. Cipolla, if I may.  I hope it will be a simple one.  Just as background, if we can turn to your response to 1C-EP-26, page 3.

Yes, there at the bottom of the page under (f) is the mention of the performance bond of 28 million, which I mentioned during my cross-examination.  I am not going to specifically ask you about that bond.  I would like to ask you a theoretical question about accounting, which is, when Toronto Hydro in its construction contracts receives a bond from a contractor, how would you account for it on your books?  Let's say $10 million bond.  Not a specific one.  We are not discussing this case.  I just want to know how these are accounted for on your books.  Do you mark it in your journal somehow and post it to somewhere?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No, there's no financial accounting treatment in the financial statements.  It is held as a financial security offline.

MR. LADANYI:  So it is off -- essentially, it is not on the statements?

MS. CIPOLLA:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  It is off balance sheet.

Now when in the likely circumstance that the contractor does not do the job and now that $10 million bond -- because we are not going to discuss this one, apparently there is a court case in this one -- that $10 million bond is now going to be cashed by Toronto Hydro.  So now you cash the bond.

How do you record the cashing of this bond?  Has this become something that is credited to plant accounts?  Or is it treated as revenue and then goes to the income statement?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Unfortunately, I can't speculate on the treatment, because each contract would specifically discuss the nature of the accounting.  So you would have to look at the underlying accounting that you are doing, so what type of contract is it; what type of asset is it; the nature of it.  So you would do different types of treatment between an intangible asset versus a PP&E asset, if there are capital contributions.  There are many factors that you have to consider.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, if it's a PP&E asset.  So I will move the intangible assets off.  If it's, for example, a computer software, or if it's some aspect of plant that is being built and you have a $10 million bond that you have now cashed, it is actually a question that probably is covered somewhere in the accounting rules.

It doesn't happen often, but if you want to take an undertaking I would be happy to give you an undertaking and you can study this.

MS. CIPOLLA:  I am happy to speak to it in the context of -- the challenge in this hypothetical situation is you have to look at, if there's a proceeding with a bond, that's under contemplation of litigation, you have to look at the final situation around that to determine what the implication is.

So it is very difficult for me to speculate the treatment without case facts on it.

MR. LADANYI:  I will try it once more, maybe in a simpler way.

In the past what have you done?  And can you give me, like, an idea of what was done in the past?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I'm not sure that dealing with things in abstraction is necessarily going to be relevant to this proceeding, in terms of what could have been done or have been done in the past.  The witness has indicated that it is a factually dependent issue and, therefore, you know, it relates to those particular facts that are at hand from an accounting perspective.


[Board Panel confers]


Mr. Ladanyi, can you help us understand the reason for needing this information?


MR. LADANYI:  Exactly.  I would like to know -- and it is obvious I can't get it.  I have tried before.


In the case that Toronto Hydro gets to cash this 28-million bond, how it's going to treat it.  Is it going to take it into income?  Is it going to go through its bottom line and essentially credit to the shareholders?  Or will it be actually a credit against plant and reduce rate base?


MS. ANDERSON:  I think we did deal with the issue that this is specific to a case and, therefore, if we are dealing with it we're dealing with it -- we want to deal with it on a generic basis, these types of things, not a specific case.


I understand the quandary then it is fact based and each scenario can be slightly different.


So I guess it is a question we would have is, can you give us some examples of how these things might be -- keeping in mind that we have addressed that we're not going to deal specifically with that one case.


MR. KEIZER:  Actually, Madam Chair, Ms. Coban reminded me that when this came up before, I believe with questions from Mr. Ladanyi, we had indicated that it was best addressed within panel 3.


MR. LADANYI:  Which panel was that?


MS. ANDERSON:  Panel 3.


MR. LADANYI:  Panel 3?


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I am back.  I just have a few questions with respect to some specific projects that we were going to start that discussion on Thursday.


You provided, in response to J1.4, a set of updated tables to the pre-filed evidence, corrected tables.  I just want to be clear I understand what you have and have not done.


So we originally were discussing tables 7 and 8 in the evidence, and you provided that.  And then I asked you if there were any other issues in the tables, and you have provided in this interrogatory an update to a table in the overhead renewal section, in the area of conversion section.


So do I take it, then, all asset condition assessment tables in the pre-filed evidence, if they're not included here, are correct?


MS. NARISETTY:  All of the tables that refer to asset condition assessment are correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  So let's just back up to reorient ourselves where we were when we left this topic off.


I was asking you about the underground renewal horseshoe program, and I think you agreed with me that it is the single largest capital program you are proposing during the up coming period of about 460 million.  Do I have that correct?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think we agreed that the program as a whole is about replacing transformers, underground transformers, cables, switches, correct?


MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think we discussed that you do not have asset condition information for the underground cables, correct?


MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then we got to J1.4, the original tables, and J1.4 is the correction.  I just want to understand what these tables show.


So looking at table number 7 on J1.4, as I understand what this table is, it is showing the asset conditions of the three different types of underground transformers in 2017, and then what they would be in 2024 if you made no investments.  Do I understand that?


MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my question to you -- and I believe these are looking at -- this is looking at underground transformers in the horseshoe region, or underground transformers in the system as a whole -- so downtown and horseshoe?


MS. NARISETTY:  So table 7 is for assets in the horseshoe region.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.


And so in 2017, what we see is the asset condition assessment showed that there were 559 assets in H4 and H5, correct?  Will you take that, subject to check?  I am just adding the 458 and 101.


MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in 2024, if you replaced zero of those zero assets, that number increases to 1,738, correct,  that are in H4 and H5?


MR. TAKI:  That seems to be what the number would be.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So without any investment, an additional 1,179 underground transformers, your forecast is they will move into H4 and H5 then today?


MR. TAKI:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But obviously your plan is not to replace zero underground transformers, correct?


MR. TAKI:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go back to our compendium -- this is K1.2, page 50 of that compendium -- you are proposing to replace, as I understand it, 1,941 underground transformers in the horseshoe region during the upcoming term, correct?


MR. TAKI:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you plan to replace more underground transformers in the horseshoe region than all of the underground transformers that you forecast to be in the H4 and H5 region at the end of the term in 2024, correct?


MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In fact, you will be replacing more than 1,941 transformers, correct?  There will also be those you replace on a reactive basis as part of the reactive and corrective capital program, correct?


MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct, Mr. Rubenstein.  And just to provide some clarification, as we have described in the underground program, about 1,500 of those transformers are being replaced because they have PCBs, or are at risk of containing PCBs.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We will get to your reasons for it.  I just want to get the numbers correct.


So if I recall your discussion with Mr. Millar, I believe on Thursday or Friday, in response to JTC1.11 -- this is page 21 of the Staff compendium -- I apologize, I don't remember the exhibit number -- I think the evidence was approximately 10 to 20 percent of reactive capital work requests involved intervention that are assets on an existing planned capital work?  Do you recall that interrogatory?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I do recall it, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we assume let's take the lower end of that at 10 percent, and we apply that to the 1,941 that you plan to do, am I correct that really you will be replacing now 2,135 underground transformers?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I am not sure if you can do that and take that range, because the 10 to 20 percent is made up of all assets that Toronto Hydro owns.


However, if you want to just do the math, then your math sounds about right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am taking the bottom end of it -- help me understand.  Is this an asset where you are actually ending up replacing at the higher end, the 20 percent end?


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't have that information with me.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So if we talk about the -- using the 10 percent number as sort of a rough proxy for the purposes of this discussion, you will be replacing 2,135 underground transformers, correct?


MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, the witness has already indicated that that number, 10 to 20 percent, reflects the overall system.  Not particular to these transformers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I did qualify that by saying a proxy for the purposes of discussion.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Your math sounds about right to me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go back to the number of assets in H4, H5 that we were talking about before, that's significantly more than the 1,738 that are in H4, H5, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in fact if the goal, as I -- and from what I understood from our discussions that were happening last week, your response to U-Energy Probe-64 -- maybe we can pull that up.  Sorry, it is not in the compendium.

Go to page 5.  This is in the second paragraph.  I understood one of the goals of the capital plan was to maintain assets that are in HI4 and HI5, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Generally speaking, that is an objective.  However, I believe Mr. Taki did indicate that there are other needs within this program and which is what is driving the specific replacements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go back to our discussion earlier with respect to the numbers, if we have 559 in HI4 and HI5 now, moving to zero investments, 1,738, that is an increase from 1,179.  To maintain the number in H4, H5 you need to replace 1,179 underground transformers, correct?  That are in H4/H5.

MR. TAKI:  If the goal was to maintain the quantity of HI4, HI5.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you are replacing at least 1,941,  using my proxy of the 10 percent on the reactive, 2,135, correct?  So a lot more than the 1,175.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Rubenstein, I am having a little bit of trouble following your math.  Can you repeat that last --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  If to maintain the H4, H5 you need to replace 1,179 underground transformers in H -- that are in H4, H5.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you are replacing, based on the evidence, either 1,941, included in this program or, based on the analysis I was telling you about, the additional 10 percent that are done on a reactive, 2,135?  So significantly more than the 1,179.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And yet there will be no reliability benefits?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't believe that is true.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there will be reliability benefits with this program?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There will be decreasing reliability -- decreasing -- increasing reliability with respect to underground assets in this program compared to the previous program?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Rubenstein, is there anywhere in the evidence that you can point me to where we have indicated there will be no reliability benefits from this program?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am asking you.  My understanding from our discussions last week was -- I think you had these discussions earlier with Dr. Higgin -- was this plan will not see any reliability benefits.  We're maintaining system SAIDI and SAIFI.

So I am asking, if you're replacing so many more that are in H4 and H5 than the current -- than you would need to maintain H4, H5, are we going to see reliability benefits?

MR. TAKI:  There could be specific reliability benefits in certain neighbourhoods as a result of these investments.  However, as we have indicated, the driver for these investments is not purely reliability.  There are various needs, whether they be condition or other needs, such as the PCB -- the PCB issue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are the PCBs not reflected in -- are they reflected in the asset condition assessment?

MS. NARISETTY:  No.  The presence of PCBs is not an input to asset condition assessment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding that PCBs are likely to be in older equipment.  Do I have that right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think from your evidence that I have read in the materials, the older the asset the more likely it is in worse condition.  Correct?  As a general proposition.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That would be fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then implicitly some of the PCBs will be -- I should put it this way.  More likely than not a significant portion of the PCBs should be in the H4/H5 category.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, maybe we can take a step back.  So you've drawn our attention to -- and there is a lot of math going on here, so please forgive me if I am not doing this mathematics correctly.

But I believe your statement was that for underground transformers -- and I am just verifying the number here on the screen -- we're going to see an increase of approximately 1,200 transformers between HI4 and HI5 from 2017 to 2024.  I believe that is what your statement was.

So, yes, a portion of the underground system renewal program is aimed at addressing the specific need.

Mr. Taki drew your attention to PCB risks, oil leaks.  Toronto Hydro has -- and I will actually see if I can verify this number.  It will just take me one second.  On the underground system Toronto Hydro has over 3,000 transformers that either have or at risk of having PCBs.  There is PCB regulations that have certain obligations, obligations that require PCBs to come out of service by 2025, which is the following period that we are moving into, the 2020 to 2024 period.  So it is a period we need to be very active when it comes to managing our PCB risks.

So a significant driver for the underground system renewal program is managing PCBs.  There are, of course, other drivers there as well.  We have spoken a lot about our direct buried cable, so a significant portion of the expenditure and the investments will be going to direct buried cable.

So in totality there are a number of needs that this program is serving, and this is why we have designed it and are proposing it the way we have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me ask you about the direct buried cable.  Can you help me understand -- I understand the PCBs -- I understand why the direct buried cable, how that impacts the amount of transformers you are replacing.

Let me put it this way.  If you are replacing a line of cable, underground cable, do you replace the transformers regardless of their condition, if it's along that route, along that feeder?

MR. TAKI:  No.  The decision would be made based on inputs such as age and condition and PCBs, when it comes to replacing the transformers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then what does the relevance of the buried cable have to do with respect to how many transformers you replace?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I apologize.  So my comment about the cable went back to your initial statement that this is the largest program that Toronto Hydro has.  So the reason I state that is, this is one of the reasons that this is the largest program that Toronto Hydro has.  With respect specifically to transformers the significant drivers are condition and PCBs and the risk of oil leaks.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it then -- sorry, the oil leaks, is that separate from the condition?  Does your condition information not account for, there is degradation that would increase oil leaks?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, there are indicators of degradation that could cause oil leaks in the condition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it then it is condition and PCBs that may not be included, or are not directly included in the condition assessment?  Those are the reasons why you are, seemingly based on the evidence, replacing significantly more transformers than in 2024, more transformers than the entire amount you forecast for H4 and H5, and even more if the overall goal of the capital program is to maintain H4 H5 numbers, HI4, HI5 numbers?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I believe I mentioned that we have more than 3,000 underground transformers that are at risk of PCB oil leaks.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, and those are the two -- is the reason why -- going back to my question just to make sure I am clear, is the reason why you are replacing more transformers than are the numbers that are in H4 and H5 in 2024 would be forecasted to move over because of PCBs?  Is that the big driver?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If we did not have PCBs to manage, the number would be less.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about switches, underground switches.  Are there PCBs in underground switches?

MR. TAKI:  No, there are not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, let's take a look at table 8; this is the underground switch chart.

What I see here is in 2017, you have eighty switches that are in HI4, HI5, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in 2024 in the "no investment scenario", you have 157.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let's go back to page 50 of the compendium.  As I see it, you plan to replace 231 switches in the -- between 2020 and 2024, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is more than every switch in HI4, HI5 in 2024, correct, under the no investment scenario, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if the goal is to maintain the level of HI4 and HI5, then you would only need to replace 77 switches, correct?  Do I have that correct?

MR. TAKI:  If that was the only goal, that would be correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are replacing something like two times that amount -- sorry, you are re placing something like over two, three times that amount.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you don't have the PCB issue,  correct?  There is no PCBs in switches, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So aren't you replacing too many, significant amounts of too many?

MR. TAKI:  No, we are not, Mr. Rubenstein.  When it comes to switches, we have described in the evidence the reality that air-insulated pad-mounted switches fail a lot earlier than their typical useful life, or that perhaps condition may indicate, because of the high contamination from road salt and other contaminants in the air.

These are -- in them being air insulated, they are susceptible to these contaminants getting into the actual switch gear.

And based on what we have provided in the evidence in terms of failure rates of these, and premature failure of these air-insulated switch gears, we are replacing them perhaps, like I said, although they may not be in HI4 or HI5, that category.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me understand that.  As I understand from the new asset condition assessment, it utilizes age, correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  Age is one of the inputs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that age based on Toronto Hydro's failure data to determine what the age curve is for a given asset, or is that a generic asset curve?

MS. NARISETTY:  The hazard rates are based on the Kinectrics report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  A Toronto Hydro Kinectrics report that was previously conducted?  Or the Board's Kinectrics report?

MS. NARISETTY:  A combination of the two.  Mostly, yes, it is the Kinectrics report that was commissioned for Toronto Hydro.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was done many years ago, I guess?  I don't recall.  But that is not a new report.

MS. NARISETTY:  I believe it was done in 2009.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And you haven't updated that data to reflect assets living longer, or assets living shorter, in the past ten years?

MS. NARISETTY:  There has been no update to that report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about a couple of other programs.  Now, there was some discussion with -- I'll skip a bit of what I was going to ask, because it was dealt with by Staff last week.

With respect to the area of rebuild programs, as I understand it, it's made up of two different projects or sub programs, the box conversion and the rear lot conversion, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.  The area conversion program.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, area conversion.

As I understand the two sub components, the box construction, you are replacing outdated legacy overhead box construction systems.  At a high level, that is what you are doing?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In the rear lot conversion, you are replacing systems in residential neighbourhoods that are in customer's back yards, and there was a discussion about why it is causing system and reliability issues, and you are putting them in the front, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to rear lot conversions, do I understand you are replacing these backyard overhead systems with actually front underground systems?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are not replacing rear lot overhead with front lot overhead, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me there is a significant cost difference between putting in overhead versus underground, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, there is a cost difference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I am not sure, is there a rough estimate?  I have seen in other utilities anywhere from five to ten times the cost.  I don't know.  Do you have a rough estimate of what the cost would be, if you were doing, say, rear lot overhead?  That's right.  Rear lot conversions, but you were doing it on an overhead basis?  I think the numbers that we got -- we talked about last week was something between 35 and $39,000 a customer.

What would that be if it was done overhead?  Do you have a rough estimate?

MR. TAKI:  No, I don't have that information with me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide that information?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure whether that information is available.  There may be a particular costing, or how necessarily it would be provided, but...


MR. TAKI:  Mr. Rubenstein, I think I might be of assistance.  If we go to interrogatory Staff 80.

So at Staff 80, part (d), that question was asked.  And so in our response, we said that we have not prepared a cost estimate for front-lot overhead as this option is not feasible, as we have noted in previous applications before the Board.  And it refers to our previous -- one of our previous rate applications.

And in that specific application, we have done an analysis looking at the various options for rear lot, and in there you will find also a cost analysis that will answer your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So can you put that on the record, I guess, by way of undertaking?

The question I had and maybe -- I don't know what the reference is referred to.  But is there, either specifically with respect to the difference between front lot and overhead versus underground?  Or just a more general, Toronto Hydro, when it does any sort of work, what is the difference between over -- on average, overhead versus underground work?

MR. TAKI:  There isn't one answer to that question, Mr. Rubenstein.  It really depends on the specific scenario and what you are moving from overhead to underground.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, I will ask for the undertaking, and I guess maybe just put this on the record if that is responsive to the question I --

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I guess we can provide it as part of an undertaking, the excerpts represented at EB-2012-0064, and place them on the record.

MR. MILLAR:  So the undertaking is J3.1.  And are we clear on what is being undertaken?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, my understanding is the undertaking is that we are -- in reference to, as shown in this interrogatory that is currently on the screen, which I think this is Staff 80 or 81, to make available on the record the excerpt that is relied upon in answer to (d) of the undertaking, as referenced in EB-2012-0064.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  IN REFERENCE TO INTERROGATORY STAFF 80 OR 81, TO MAKE AVAILABLE ON THE RECORD THE EXCERPT THAT IS RELIED UPON IN ANSWER TO (D) OF THE UNDERTAKING, AS REFERENCED IN EB-2012-0064.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, then let me ask this question just as a follow-up.  If the Board were to determine, we do not think it is it reasonable for this infrastructure to be placed underground and it should be placed overhead, how would the Board -- or what would you ask the -- what is the cost differential that the Board would have -- that would fairly impute to be that difference?

MR. KEIZER:  That's a very large question, given the fact that the program is computed on the basis of moving to underground.  It would require the full reconsideration of the program itself, and I think it is not really fair to put that estimate to the panel.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, that's why I was asking about a rough estimate of overhead versus underground.  I'm trying to -- if we make that argument, I would like to have some basis to provide some realistic basis of what the cost reduction should be.  That is the purpose of the question.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the witness has pointed to this as being an indication as to what the cost was with respect to the feasibility analysis that was provided in the context of EB-2012-0064.

I think that is what he feels, I think the witness has indicated, is responsive to that question.

MS. ANDERSON:  My question would be the reference in this to -- that this option is not feasible, and does the reference from EB-2012-0064 go to the factors that weigh into why it is not feasible.  I am hoping that that undertaking would cover that question.

MR. KEIZER:  If it's in terms of the elements of feasibility, if it is lacking, then we will expand on the elements of feasibility.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think that would be helpful to know the rationale for it not being feasible.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the box construction program, are you -- is any of the forecast 2024 box construction conversions also replacing legacy overhead box construction facilities with now underground facilities?

MR. TAKI:  For the most part, no.  The reason why I say that is there may be some specific circumstances where, as part of the project, it is prudent to move some assets from overhead box to underground.  But those would be exceptions.

Generally, for the most part, the box construction program is replacing overhead box assets with the newer standard for overhead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my additional questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will take the morning break, but the Panel will be determining whether or not we will have our decision on confidentiality after the break or after lunch, and depending on what we determine -- I guess my question is for Ms. Grice, whether she would be prepared to go after the break if we decided to go after lunch?

MS. GRICE:  I believe CCC has requested to jump ahead of me.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Girvan, would you be prepared to go after the break?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Let's just assume that unless you hear otherwise.  If that is okay, Mr. Stephenson, we will bump you again.  You're okay to be here today?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am in your hands.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Okay.  We will take 20 minutes.
--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  We have decided to deliver our decision on confidentiality after the lunch break, just so you know.


So we will carry on to the break and we understand, Mr. Stephenson, you would be able to start if we reached that point, without things referenced to the in-camera material?


MR. STEPHENSON:  That's correct.  I am happy to do that.


MS. ANDERSON:  We may make it to the lunch break anyway.  Mr. Millar, I understand you have some questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair, for the Panel's indulgence and Toronto Hydro.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Toronto Hydro filed its response to undertaking J1.7, and we had some very quick follow-up questions just to make sure we understood it.  I am hoping to run through those quickly with the panel, and I think it will probably take just about two minutes.


Panel, good morning.  You filed J1.7.  I just want to make sure I understand exactly what we have here.  I will be referring to J1.7, and then if you still have the Staff compendium, which I think is K1.3, page 72 of that compendium has some extracts from a Staff interrogatory.


So I am hoping you can just confirm for me that the only difference between the capital-related revenue requirement that you are now showing in J1.7 and what is shown on that page 72 on table 4 of Staff 168 -- again, that is at page 72 of the compendium -- the only difference we would see there would be the impact of the update made to the working capital allowance.  That's the change?


MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if we were looking at table 4 again on Staff 168, the depreciation number there would be -- would not be impacted, correct?


MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, there's no impact.


MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent there is any impact on that PILs line, it would be immaterial.  Is that fair?


MS. CIPOLLA:  We can confirm that there would be an impact, but to a smaller amount.


MR. MILLAR:  Is the term immaterial fair?  I don't want to ask for updated numbers, if it is going to be a very tiny difference that really won't impact the final analysis.


MS. CIPOLLA:  There will be a small impact, or an immaterial -- yes, that's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you are telling me it is immaterial, I don't need to know any more than that.  If it is going to change the final number for capital-related revenue requirement, then I would like to have that updated.


Our suspicion is that the change would be so small, it really wouldn't make much of a difference.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. CIPOLLA:  We can confirm that the change actually has been reflected in this number already.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, it is already here?  We've done the calculation and for 2020, we came up with a difference from table 4 of about $150,000, which for us is essentially immaterial.  Is that approximately right?


MS. CIPOLLA:  Subject to check, we would agree that that is immaterial.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that is all of my questions, thank you.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Ms. Girvan?

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you, panel.  I can't see all of you, but anyway, I have given my references to Toronto Hydro, and I apologize for not having a compendium.  It is a little difficult when you are self-employed and trying to get all of this done.


So my first reference is U-BOMA-121.  Just in terms of context, I know this isn't really -- I don't know that this is for this panel, but if you can just scroll down. I just want to, for context, make sure I understand what we're talking about in terms of distribution rate impacts for this application.


So can you confirm that this is the latest update of the distribution rate impacts that exclude the impacts of the DVAs?  Is this the impacts that we're talking about in the context of this application?


MR. KEIZER:  I think this would be -- if it's bill impacts, I believe that is panel 3.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But I guess I was -- we were having a discussion earlier about the 3.5 percent that was set out in the customer engagement.  I just wanted to confirm that this is comparable to that 3.5 percent.


It says it was updated, this is updated in the U exhibit, right, U-BOMA-121?


I just want to make sure this is the distribution charge increase for each rate class in the context of this application.  So for residential customers, those are the numbers in each year?


MR. KEIZER:  Well, actually the -- Ms. Girvan, maybe I could be of assistance.  Even this IR was directed towards the CIR framework and the DVA panel, which is actually panel 3.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.


MR. KEIZER:  So if you have particular questions about what is in these numbers and how these numbers are derived, it is best to ask your questions of that panel.


MS. GIRVAN:  All I wanted to do was confirm with this panel these are the latest updates, in terms of distribution rate impacts for the application.


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  The only question I have is that this panel is not dealing with the distribution rate impacts.  So if it is with respect to the context of the DSP, then I guess that is what I am struggling to understand.


MS. GIRVAN:  We talked earlier about the 3.5 percent in terms of your customer engagement, and I just wanted to sort of -- to make sure that these are comparable numbers.


MS. CIPOLLA:  I can't confirm this particular interrogatory, if those are the final numbers.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But it is around the 3 percent average for each year?  That's what you are aware of?


MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  I just wanted to be clear.  Okay, thank you.


Could you now turn to, it is Exhibit U-Staff-166.3, appendix A -- no, it is U-Staff -- sorry.  Yes, that's it.  
If you could just pull so we could see the bottom lines.  There we go.


Okay.  So I am looking at, it says subtotal, which is -- this is capital programs table.  What it does is it compares what you filed in your last case versus what you actually spent.  Is that correct?


MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So if I go to 2015, at the bottom, I see that you've under-spent, relative to what you said in the last case, $39.7 million.  Is that correct?


MS. CIPOLLA:  The $39.7 million is the difference between the original filing and the actuals for 2015.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  So that is -- when you made your application last time you said that you needed to spend 531 in 2015, and you actually spent 39.7.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We said we needed 531.1 in the original application --

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I get that.

MS. CIPOLLA:  -- before the decision and spent 491.4.

MS. GIRVAN:  So the difference is 39.7?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And in 2016, you said you needed to spend 518.8, but you spent 511.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, in relation to the original --

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, okay, I understand that.

Okay.  And then in 2017, you said that you needed to spend 467, but you actually spent $30.5 million more.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then in 2018, you said you needed to spend $470 million, but you actually spent 435.6.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  And if you move over to '19, you said you needed to spend 502 million, and you are on track -- I believe the evidence is to date of spending 443 million.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I guess in the context of that I am just wondering, putting your current budget before the Board, it seems like you significantly underspent in every year except for 2017.  And I just wondered what confidence this Board could have in your budget going forward if the variances were so significant last time.

MS. CIPOLLA:  The Board can have confidence in our ability to execute the plan.  Particularly U-Staff-166.3, Appendix A speaks to the original plan before the Board decision.  And subsequent to the Board decision, we applied the Board's decision and derived our capital revenue requirement, and we have executed to a 1 percent variance to the execution of the in-service additions and the capital revenue requirement.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you were able to do that, though?  You said you needed to spend these amounts, but you were able to actually reduce your budgets in each of those years; is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Do you mind just repeating your question?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  You said to the Board, okay, we need to spend this amount of money, and the Board said, look, we want to impose a reduction on you.  You made some reductions and you lived with those reductions; is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We lived -- yes, we lived within the Board's decision, and as I noted, to a 1 percent variance.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you very much.

Now, I just have a few questions on some of the metrics that were discussed yesterday.  These are found at, if you look at the SEC compendium, pages 126 and 127.  It also refers to JTC3.7 -- 27, sorry.  And I am just interested at a high level of these metrics about the one-year distribution system plan investment and the five-year distribution system plan investment and these metrics, and I just wanted to understand exactly how they work.

So if you look at page 127 of the SEC compendium, the way that I understand it is here, with this one year, if you spent in 2018 -- you spent within that range, then you met the target.  Is that correct?  I am trying to understand how these work.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  As noted on compendium page 127, specifically to 2018, I believe your reference was to the one-year --

MS. GIRVAN:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. CIPOLLA:  -- plan.  We can confirm that those are the ranges between -- for the execution of the capital plan for that particular year.

MS. GIRVAN:  The way it works is just if you spent the money, then you've -- then you've met your target?

MS. CIPOLLA:  The targets are set as noted in here, and they're actually referenced to panel 3, as you will note at the bottom of the compendium page, and I think it is better suited for that panel to speak to the full scorecard and the way in which those targets are set.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But isn't this a target that you are involved in?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  I'm involved in the -- the calculation of those numbers, but the actual setting of the target and the management of our corporate scorecard and the balanced scorecard we have is best suited for panel 3 in aggregate.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.

I have several other questions on that, so you would prefer I take it to panel 3?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  If it is of the same vein, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  So I have quite a few questions on that.  I am going to, I guess, defer to panel 3.

Okay.  We were talking -- you were talking yesterday about this -- you did your customer engagement.  You came up with a capital budget limit of $562 million.

Can you help me better understand how you derive that and how it impacted the DSP?  I wasn't clear from the discussion you had yesterday.  I'm just trying to understand the interplay between the customer engagement, this capital budget limit, and your actual budgets.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Ms. Girvan, I just want to confirm the question.  Is it to -- and perhaps you might need to repeat it, but it is to confirm the interplay between the final capital amount per year that we set and the budgets that are put within the application?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  So you've said you derived this 562 capital budget limit -- I think that that is what was referred to in the business plan documents, right?  And I first want to understand how is that derived specifically, and again, how did that assist you in arriving at your final annual budgets for the five years in the plan?

MS. CIPOLLA:  So what I would state is Toronto Hydro set a top-down planning parameter right after our first round of customer engagement, and what we did was we factored in our legal liabilities and the information from our planners, and as a result what we did was we set a price limit set at 3.5 percent, and that 3.5 percent was driven based on the feedback we heard from our customers around maintaining the service level --

MS. GIRVAN:  Can I just interject one thing?  The 3.5 percent, to clarify, is that a distribution rate impact?

MS. CIPOLLA:  It is the residential distribution rate impacts.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MS. CIPOLLA:  We set that price limit.  In addition to that we set our budgetary limits, and capital being one of them that you spoke to.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you decided that customers could live with a 3.5 percent annual distribution rate impact.  Then you went back and said, okay, O&M is relatively flat.  How much capital can we spend in order to stay within that 3.5 percent?  Is that how you developed your budgets?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We developed our budgets, our high-level planning parameters, to begin with, and based on the customer feedback around -- that we spoke to we set that price limit.

We then knew, based on our operational planning process, we had an initial consideration of the needs that served extremely higher than that at just under $3.2 billion of capital need, and so we had to balance that through.

We then determined a reasonable level for OM&A and capital.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you did this cap.  You did a bottom-up approach, and said we have to shave off in order to keep within that cap?  That's essentially what you did?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  What we essentially did was we set up a top-down strategic executive approved caps.

We had higher needs through a bottoms-up budget that was built, and we effectively needed to determine, through trade-offs and choices, the best plan to put in front of, within this application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Was your objective to spend essentially in capital relatively the same amount every year?

MS. CIPOLLA:  The capital plan was specific to the programs and the investments that we were looking to spend on, and so they were specific to those programs.

So there is fluctuations by years, and so the reference to an average number is just the five-year capital divided by the five years, which is what you speak to of the 562 as the final number.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right, thank you.

If you could turn to 2B-Staff-60, and if you could go to page 3 of that interrogatory, this was a question by Board Staff that asked if you could -- would be willing to file with the OEB an annual status update with respect to its capital expenditures and capital in-service additions.

And in part (d) of that answer, you have said:
Reporting on capital provides the clearest view of Toronto's progress in implementing its capital plan, which is prepared through business planning and presented in this application on the basis of capital expenditures.  Toronto Hydro would need to understand the intended purpose of reporting on the in-service additions of capital assets..."

My question to you is:  Would this be something that you would be willing to do?

MS. COBAN:  You have our current proposal outlined in the evidence and in the interrogatory response that it continues to be our position.

If you are looking to explore questions about alternatives in terms of the reporting framework over this period, panel 3 is best equipped to deal with those questions.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you point me to where you have set out what your reporting is with respect to capital in the interrogatories?  You can do that at the break, or something.  But it would just be helpful to me.  If you have already set it out, I'm not sure exactly where it is.

MS. COBAN:  Sure.  We can clarify at the break, but I think I think the reference is right here on the screen in terms of what we have outlined in our scorecard.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you are not prepared to report in-service additions?

MS. COBAN:  Not at this time, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Why is the reason for that?

MS. COBAN:  Panel 3 can speak to the decisions that we made around what we decided would be appropriate to report in this period.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.

If you could turn to 1B-CCC-15 and just -- this has a table down below, table 1.  It talks about examples of measurable improvements.

And the question was really about the success of your capital plan, and what you have said is here are some examples of measurable improvements.  I am trying to understand what these exactly mean.

Could you explain to me particularly the box construction conversion?  How does that demonstrate success?

MR. TAKI:  For a number of years, we've been executing the box construction program to address the various reliability and safety risks associated with that program, that obsolete type of construction.

And so the progress that you see there in that interrogatory from 2014-2017, that 43 percent reduction in the number of box construction poles is a demonstration of that success.

MS. GIRVAN:  So in 2014, you had 5,573 and in 2017, you had 3,151, is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So that, from your perspective that says that is success?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  Elimination of the box construction, the box assets within our system is success.

MS. GIRVAN:  Did you look at all in that area about how cost-effective you were in terms of the conversion?  Are you getting better?  Is there any evidence of that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Ms. Girvan, we have on record the UMS study, which has looked at unit costs for a number of various both capital and O&M.  And you will note that in that particular study, it is showing that on, I believe almost all, with one exception on 12 or 13 categories, Toronto Hydro is in the second quartile.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So what this really says is you have done the work, and so that actually is success.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps I can take a step back.  The specific question that was asked here went to why does Toronto Hydro believe they were successful in implementing the 2015-2019 distribution system plan.

At the macro level, Ms. Cipolla just mentioned that we were within 1 percent of expenditures.

At the micro level, this specific interrogatory response identifies a number of measures that can be used to quantitatively assess our success.  Those measures are across a number of outcome areas, whether they be safety such as box construction, whether they be reliability such as SAIDI and SAIFI, whether they're customer service such as E-bills, but they are a basket of measures that demonstrate that Toronto Hydro implemented the 2015-2019 distribution system plan, did it through the programs that we had filed, and did it in a manner that is successful and did it in a way, as demonstrated by the UMS study, that was productive.

MS. GIRVAN:  So can you remind me, is there evidence `

-- there is just so much evidence in this case and there’s some interrogatories I haven't gone through.  But can you remind me, is there somewhere where you set out the productivity that you have accomplished in the context of your capital plan execution?  Or is it all in the UMS study?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  There are a number of exhibits.  If you maybe give me a minute or so, I will see if I can collect some notes and see if I can direct you to some of those areas.

MS. GIRVAN:  I would be fine with an undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  I was just actually going to suggest that would be the most expeditious, that we undertake to identify the areas of productivity and summarize the evidence related to it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, summarize the evidence related to productivity in terms of execution of your capital plan.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO IDENTIFY THE AREAS OF PRODUCTIVITY AND SUMMARIZE THE EVIDENCE RELATED TO IT


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Could you turn to 1B-CCC-20  on the second page?  So I am looking at this and I look particularly at the metrics that relate to cost and cap-ex?.

What this tells me is that over time, throughout the context of your plan to 2024, that these metrics are getting worse.  I am just wondering if that's what I am seeing, if that's correct.

So the total cost per customer is going up, the total cost per kilometre of line is going up.  The total cost per megawatt hours is going up, total cap-ex is going up, and total cap-ex per kilometre of line is going up.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Ms. Girvan, this is probably a question better asked to panel 3, I believe.  Just on the first page of that at the bottom, it will indicate the specific panel.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So could you turn to 2A-AMPCO-15, please.  And if you scroll down.  2A.  Keep going, I think.

Okay.  So my question is, is if you look at the externally initiated plant relocations and expansions, we see those going up significantly relative to historical levels throughout the plan starting in 2020.

And my question is, when this happens, when externally-initiated work is increasing significantly because there's demands on your system, do you go back and reprioritize your other work?  Is that a process that you undertake?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  Can I just get you to repeat the question, please?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  So what this demonstrates is externally-initiated plant relocations and expansion, that is an area that is actually going up throughout the plan over the next five years.

And my question to you is, in terms of your budgeting processes, if this suddenly becomes an issue and you say, look, there is a lot of externally initiated work that we have to do, does that take you back to the other programs to look at ways of reducing that other and reprioritizing that other work?  Is that a process that you undertake?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The externally-initiated plan relocation program is a stand-alone program with a set rate base amount of funding.

For the period of 2015 to 2019, that funding amount was $20 million.  When the program does have budgetary requirements to exceed the in-rate base funding amount, there is a DVA mechanism that can be exercised.

So to answer your question, it doesn't have a direct impact to our rate base funding for the purposes or in relation to the other programs.

MS. GIRVAN:  I am not sure I understand that.  So are you saying for 2020, which is your base, there's some built-in amount related to externally-driven work?  And the rest is captured through a deferral and variance account?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It is not specific to one single year.  It is for the rate base period, where that amount is captured.

MS. GIRVAN:  So let's look at 2020, 2021.  There is a specific rate base amount that's common to all of those five years.  I am just not clear what's...

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Just to clarify, I think we may be getting confused between both the rate periods.  So for the 2015 to 2019 period, that's where we have a set 20 million cumulative amount that's being put in rate base.

For the 2020 to 2024 rate period, what you see in the table is a capital contribution piece, and there's an associated gross cap ex as well.

So what is being presented in the forecast in this application for 2020 to 2024 is what's being proposed to be put in rates.  And any revenue requirement over or under that amount is what the variance account would track.

MS. GIRVAN:  And which variance account is that, sorry?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  So Toronto Hydro has proposed the continuation of the external demand variance account.

MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, okay.  Okay.  I can ask the DVA panel about that then.  Okay, thank you.

I just had a few quick questions about the energy storage projects.  Can you remind me how many of these -- how many projects are there?

MR. TAKI:  Can you just give me a moment?  There are three segments in the energy storage program, and each segment has a number of projects.  So just give me a moment.  I can give you those numbers.

For the grid performance energy storage projects, we've proposed an amount of 5.5 million for an aggregate capacity of 8 megawatts or 4 megawatt hours.  At this point we haven't identified the specific locations for that segment of the program.

For the renewable enabling energy storage systems, we have proposed an amount of $5 million for approximately 2.35 megawatts and 9.5 megawatt hours, and we've -- while we haven't determined the exact locations, there are three feeders that we have listed on page 25 of the program evidence, on which we were intending to install storage.

And for the third program, which is the customer-specific energy storage systems, we have listed three projects in our forecast on page 32, and we have also described those projects.  The Metrolinx Finch West Light Rail Transit Energy Storage System, the TTC Arrow Garage Energy Storage System, which we provide an update to in the application update, that TTC one is actually for a few facilities.  And the third one is the Metrolinx Willowbrook Yard Energy Storage System.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I was a little confused yesterday about the fact that the customer pays for the asset, but why then does Toronto Hydro own it?

MR. TAKI:  It is a connection asset.  So just like other connection assets, transformer switches, the customer pays for the connection asset and Toronto Hydro owns it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And there is no return on rate base related to that asset?  I think that was in an interrogatory response.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  When the assets are fully recoverable, there is no net impact to rate base, just because the recovery offsets the costs.

MS. GIRVAN:  That is what I thought.  Were there competitors with respect to these projects, other service providers that were interested in providing batteries to these customers?  Do you know?

MR. TAKI:  There may have been.  I am not able to confirm if there actually were.

MS. GIRVAN:  So there could have been other service providers that could provide the batteries?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And do you know if they've complained or have objected to Toronto Hydro doing the work at all?

MR. TAKI:  Those other service providers?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. TAKI:  No, I don't know.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And with respect to these assets, are there any risks to other ratepayers with respect to these projects?

MR. TAKI:  Can you clarify your question?

MS. GIRVAN:  So for example, if something goes wrong or there is cost overruns, things like that, could that potentially result in impacts on other customers?

MR. TAKI:  Again, can you clarify what you mean by impacts?

MS. GIRVAN:  So increased costs that are going to have to be borne by other customers related to these projects.  Or are these relatively stand-alone projects that are fully funded by the customers that are getting the storage?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Just like any other connection project, we treat it as just like any other connection project and consider the impacts to customers in a similar matter.

MS. GIRVAN:  So if there were cost overruns, the customers that are receiving the storage, they're responsible for those costs?

MR. TAKI:  What do you mean by cost overruns?

MS. GIRVAN:  It could cost more than they've contributed in some way.  I am just trying to see if there is any risks associated with these projects that could be borne by the other customers on your system.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  As we talked about last week, Toronto Hydro's offer to connect policy, as described in our condition of service, is that our offers to connect are firm offers.  So any variances between the actual costs or what was in the offer to connect would be treated in the same way that we treat our customer connections program and those variances.

MS. GIRVAN:  So those costs could be borne by other customers?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, they could.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could just turn to -- this is in Board Staff compendium, pages 33 to 40.  I just want to go back over -- you had a discussion with Mr. Millar the other day about rear lot conversion.

So the first thing I want to point to on page 33 -- and what I understand -- first of all, it says the utility plans to invest 65 million by the end of 2019 to convert approximately 2,400 customers over the period.

So that is the first thing.  And if you do the math on that, I think it’s about $27,000 a customer.

Now, if you turn to page 40 -- sorry, actually it is page 40 that has the math that I want to do.  It says at the top Toronto Hydro is on pace to invest 59.9 million in rear lot conversions during that period.

So you said originally 6.1 million for 2,400 customers, and now what you are saying is $59.9 million for -- and my question is for how many customers?  So you have updated the cost and it is less than you said earlier for 2,400 customers that was the original forecast.

Can you tell me what -- how many customers relate to the $59.9 million?  What's the expectation of how many customers you will have converted over the 2015 to 2019 period?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  We've provided that information in interrogatory U-AMPCO-130.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. TAKI:  In the table, appendix A, you will see there rear lot conversion sort of in the middle of the table.

If you go to the right for the 2015-19 period, you will see the numbers, 2,090 and 173, and then 84 customers.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that is the total for that period.  So is it -- okay.

My question to you is -- I guess what I understand is you've based your forecast to the $37,000 per customer on three projects versus the average of all of the projects.  That's correct?  That's what the interrogatories say.  I just want to clarify that.

MR. TAKI:  If you just give me a moment, I am going to go to that interrogatory.  Yes.  So that is U-Staff-173 you’re referring to, which is related to JTC1.8?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes. So all I wanted to confirm, in the period 2015 to 2019, you converted 2,347 customers for a total of $59.9 million.  And can undertake to give that to me, if you want.

MR. TAKI:  That's correct.  It is 59.9 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. TAKI:  And the 2,300 -- the total of those three that we had in U-AMPCO-130, so that would be correct.  If you take the total of 2,090, 173 and 84 -- which is, I think, 2,347 -- those are the number of customers converted between 2015 and 2019, and the cost incurred between 2015 and 2019 is $59.9 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  So that would be, subject to check, $25,522 per customer?

MR. TAKI:  If you take that total spend and divide it by the number of customers converted you will probably get something around that.  But that is not the way we have proposed to estimate the cost per customer.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks, I understand that.

Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just before you leave, Ms. Girvan, I believe you made some comment about asking panel 3 questions about the capital demand variance account.

Can I just confirm, should those questions be asked of this panel or panel 3?

MS. COBAN:  It sits a bit with both panels.  If the questions are about the clearance of that account, in terms of how it is going to be flowed through to the rate riders, that is a question for panel 3.  If the question is about the nature of the work that's being captured in that account and how it ties to the DSP, that is a question for panel 1.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I guess I would like to understand how the account works, primarily.  So I think that would be for the next panel versus the actual projects that are subject to that, because I got confused earlier about, there's an amount in rate base and then the variances over and above that have to go into an account, and it is not clear to me how that works, and I can --


MS. COBAN:  That's the mechanism.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Which is panel 3?

MS. COBAN:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

So, well, our favourite clock over there never has exactly the right time.  I have 12:21.  Mr. Stephenson, does it make sense for you to find a natural break in about ten minutes or so?  You know, if it makes sense to go 15 I think we can handle that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure, sure, let me start, and you shut me do you know if I don't already.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

I just want to start off at a very high level dealing with the competing priorities that Toronto Hydro was faced in coming up with the plan upon which this application is based.

And I just want to -- and I know there were no doubt many priorities, but I just want to identify a few and get you to confirm that they were at play in terms of the trade-offs that you had to make in developing the plan.

The first one I want to identify is your obligation to undertake, shall I say, prudent asset management.  You have a group of long-lived assets and an obligation of stewardship over those assets, and prudently managing them is part of the priorities that formed your plan.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that would be one.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Another objective or priority was -- is the notion of, with respect to your customers, of the fair sharing of the costs of the operation of the system over time; that is, sort of each generation of customers from year to year over the course of your plan and between plans should each more or less bear their fair share of the costs of the operation, maintenance, sustainment of your system?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  From an investment planning perspective, we certainly do not want to defer investments to the point where we have large, large volumes of assets that we need to address, yes, that would be one.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And another priority or objective would be long-term cost minimization; that is, measured over a material period of time you want to minimize costs?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And another objective will be concerns for your customers regarding rate impact.  You don't want them to face both wildly fluctuating rates or hardship in terms of increase -- rate increases in a specific period.  Fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And needless to say, some of those priorities operate in different directions, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So can I just take you to Exhibit 1B, T1, Schedule 1, page 28.  And you address here some aspects of what we have just discussed.  It is under the heading "price constrained plans".

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, Exhibit 1B, tab 1, Schedule...

MR. STEPHENSON:  Schedule 1, page 28.  It is coming up on the screen, I think, now.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you start off by saying that:

"Toronto Hydro developed and refined its capital and operational plans having regard to customer feedback that limited price increases was a paramount concern, to the degree that doing so would not adversely affect service performance and performance would improve in certain areas."

So it is fair to say, as you have indicated, that customer feedback regarding limiting price increases was a paramount concern.  Fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Absolutely.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that paramount concern caused you to adjust aspects of your plan that you might have otherwise undertaken.  Fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that were addressing other priorities, such as the ones that we have addressed previously.  Fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so you indicate at lines 21 and 22 that your capital plan was constrained as a consequence of this rate impact, and that the number that you selected was lower -- you say that even though a higher level is preferable from an asset management perspective, so in other words your asset managers would have liked a bigger number?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And also that by selecting a lower number you are -- you and your customers are incurring elevated asset risks?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Then just going over the page, you say:

"Reducing these risks sooner would support lower total asset life-cycle costs over the long-term by mitigating higher reactive replacement costs and the avoidable costs with repeatedly visiting a project to repair assets..."

Et cetera.  And I take it the point -- the primary point you are making there is that it is less expensive to replace and maintain assets on a planned basis rather than on a reactive basis.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the other point you make is that when you are going on a reactive basis you may actually have to in effect fix it twice, or this is the multiple-visits element that is referred to.  Fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So am I right that the corollary of that is that by selecting the plan that you ultimately selected, you have made a choice to provide a system which is not -- which has lower reliability than is optimal from an asset management perspective?  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The decisions that we've made with respect to reliability are shown in the SAIDI and SAIFI projections that we spoke about this morning and that we spoke about with Dr. Higgin.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I heard that evidence.  But just from what you have said there at the top of page 29, the increased cost -- I am going to get to that in a minute -- is a result of higher reactive work, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And reactive work arises in circumstances where something breaks, for the lack of a better word, at an unanticipated moment, right?  That is what we're talking about?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is less reliability, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Because when something breaks, it tends to be an outage of some kind?  Not always, but there is certainly a significant relationship between those two things?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So you are incurring -- because you are incurring more reactive costs, there is -- you are incurring less reliability.  Those two things are directly linked?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, there is a linkage.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as you have indicated, you are incurring higher life cycle costs, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  And maybe I can take a step back.

One of the things that we've noticed over the last five years is a progressive increase in our reactive capital expenditures.  That is of concern to us, and those are expenditures that are not the most efficient expenditures.

We spoke with Mr. Millar last week about the fact that in some programs, for example our voltage conversion work, we were actually repeating work when we have to go in and rebuild.

So, yes, absolutely, reactive expenditures are not -- are ones that we would like to avoid.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just on that point, some of those anticipated reactive expenditures are expenditures which you are forecasting to incur during the plan period, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Can you repeat that question?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  I will take one step back.

You indicated in your evidence that you are -- a consequence of your plan is that you are having higher reactive expenditures than you would otherwise have.

And I am now just talking about timing.  Some of those reactive expenditures are, in fact, going to be incurred during the 2020-2024 period. correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, they will.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Some of them are going to be incurred after the 2024 period?  That is all part of your higher asset life cycle costs.  We are not just talking about costs in the plan period.  We're talking about life cycle costs.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Asset life cycles do span long periods of time.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so part of the consequences of the choice you made, in terms of designing your plan, is to push off some of those costs, that is into a future period?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Absolutely.  On presentation day, for example, we spoke about the pacing of some of our key assets, the fact that some of the legacy assets like PILC will continue to be on the system into the 2040s.

Some of the other assets, our direct buried cable, our rear lots, will be in existence well into the 2030s.  So yes, we are doing that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But that is not just a timing question, right?  It is also a question about, as I said, long-term cost minimization.

There is a cost to pushing off the timing in terms of reliability cost and absolute dollar cost.  That is what you have said at the top of page 29.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I think this would be a good time for me to break.

MS. ANDERSON:  You broke just when I had a mouthful of ice.  Yes, we will take an hour for lunch.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:35 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:39 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

So Mr. Stephenson, before you begin, we will give you our decision.
DECISION:


MS. ANDERSON:  The Panel is prepared to give our decision with respect to the confidentiality request of Toronto Hydro concerning the results of its internal evaluation of the cost difference between internal and external construction costs.  This includes the underlying information associated with that evaluation and interrogatory responses associated with the same issue set out in Procedural order No. 3.

The OEB continues the confidential treatment of the Toronto Hydro comparison of internal and external construction costs, as well as its underlying data and the interrogatory responses touching upon this comparison referenced in PO No. 3.

As provided in its decision on confidentiality of December 14th, 2018, the OEB was not satisfied that Toronto Hydro has provided sufficient rationale for granting confidential treatment for the cost difference between internal and external construction projects.  Further information has been provided by Toronto Hydro in this proceeding to enable a determination of this issue.

The OEB has determined that the information at issue will remain confidential.  However, the OEB's findings are not completely congruent with the submissions advanced by Toronto Hydro that were based on the premise of potential harm that may be caused by disclosure of its internal evaluation of the cost difference.

The OEB's Practice Direction on Confidential Findings provides that the OEB must find a balance between the general public interest in transparency and openness and the need to protect confidential information.  Considerations of potential harm from disclosure, including significant interference with negotiations carried out by a party, may be considered as a factor in that exercise by the OEB.

The considerations that support disclosure of this information go beyond its usefulness in the context of this proceeding.  The issues of the fairness of utility compensation to its employees and the prudence and efficiency of procurement of outside contractors go to the heart of the reasons for requirements of openness and transparency in OEB proceedings.

Toronto Hydro predicts potential harm to labour or contractual negotiations by the release of the comparison of construction costs between internal and external utility providers (the latter aggregated and de-identified).

This position is commendably cautious but speculative.  It is doubtful that this submission by itself should tip the balance in favour of maintaining confidentiality of information relevant to these costs.

However, the OEB is not satisfied that the evaluation and comparison of internal and external costs prepared by Toronto Hydro is sufficiently robust to engage the operative principles of openness and transparency and require its public disclosure.

The Toronto Hydro comparison was based on the actual cost of only a small percentage of the construction projects undertaken in-house, compared with estimates of external costs based on unit pricing information, derived internally from Toronto Hydro's term contract.

Given the differing data sources, actual and internally estimated, used to derive the final results of the comparison exercise, the OEB is not convinced that the public interest now requires an order for disclosure, given the possibility of harm.  At the very least, such disclosure would first necessitate a much more intensive scrutiny of the methodology behind the underlying calculations.

As a result, the OEB continues the confidential nature of the Toronto Hydro comparison of internal and external construction costs.

The OEB is retaining its approach to access to this confidential treatment as set out in its decision on confidentiality dated December 14th, 2018.  Mr. Stephenson as counsel for PWU will continue to have access for the reasons that were provided in that decision.  Thank you.

So with that decision, we will need to go in camera when we reach any questions related to internal and external costs that are now being kept confidential.

When we reach that point, if anyone else has questions on that particular information, it would actually be helpful to do them all at once, once Mr. Stephenson is -- has completed his questions.  So I will ask that anyone does, be prepared once we go in camera, and of course once we go in camera anyone who has not signed the declaration will be asked to leave and we will go off air.

Thank you.  With that, Mr. Stephenson, we will proceed.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I believe there is just one preliminary matter, and I think it has come to my attention that one of the panellists seeks to provide a clarification from something arising from this morning.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MS. CIPOLLA:  In relation to business planning discussion this morning, I just wanted to make a clarification, and perhaps if I could just have Exhibit 2B, E2, page 4, starting on line 15 there.

I just wanted to make a clarification around the consideration of our capital needs, and that we did actually do a consideration of the high-level scenarios that we discussed that resulted in the preliminary planning scenarios, and that there resulted into the capital need, and that capital need that we discussed resulted in the price limitation.

So we effectively considered three scenarios, and we selected the sustainment scenario around the capital program for the 2020 to 2024 period, and that resulted -- that input with our OM&A budget consideration resulted in the calculation of the price limit.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

Mr. Stephenson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:  (Cont'd)

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.

I want to pick up where I left off and explore another aspect of this issue about the trade-offs that are implicit in your plan.  And I want to move to the issue of how those trade-offs were explained in the context of your customer consultations, and I appreciate that we've got a panel on that, and it may be that this is more appropriate for them and you will let me know.

But for this panel's purposes, do you know when you consulted with your customers, did you advise them that the consequence of going down the option that you more or less ultimately accepted was that they would be facing increased probability of unforced outages and increased costs in subsequent rate periods?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Those very specific details of customer engagement would probably be best for panel 3, I believe.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And let me just follow that up, and you may give the same answer.

But assuming for a moment that that information was not conveyed, in terms of the value that you received from your customers and its guidance in terms of your selective options, don't you think that that kind of information actually is relevant to customers, in terms of its selection of its priorities?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is the same issue.  It's a panel 3 matter.  The scope is really that if it's something that formed the nature of the engagement or the selection of the information that formed part of the engagement, that's something that panel 3 can directly deal with.

This panel can deal with issues related to that upon receiving the understanding of the customer's needs or preferences arising from the first round, and then subsequent rounds, how that was factored into the DSP.  I think that is within the scope of this panel.

The nature of the engagement and the scope of the engagement, how the engagement was undertaken I think is panel 3.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean I hear that, Madam Chair.  But as I understand it, this is the panel that I need to speak to about how they implemented the output of the customer engagement and how it shaped the actual proposal.

And I just -- it seems to me that these are the folks that are situated to know that, you know, we value -- they're the ones that say we value customer impact.  But my point is that assuming that the customers weren't asked the question, that that was a -- that this panel thinks that that is something that would be relevant to its consideration, knowing that customers weren't asked something about a feature of the plan that was implemented.

I am prepared to move --


MR. KEIZER:  It is just a quandary of whether they actually, you know, understand the thinking behind why the engagement was done the way it is.

The engagement results are certainly known to them, and how they implemented them, I think, is what is at issue for this panel.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I will move on.  I do have a different question about a different aspect of customer engagement, and we will see where this goes.

I don't think you need to turn up any of the filed evidence for this.  I am going to deal with it at a very high level.

You put out to customers an option where you talked about a rate impact of in the ballpark of 3 percent, and having other features, but that was one of the features, right?  You know that was an option put out to the customers, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, in relation to the price of the plan that was put out to them.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And in fact, the plan you have brought here is generally consistent with that option?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Generally, it is consistent.  There are some modifications that were made.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Understood.  We know that when you talk about that price impact, you are talking about -- or the rate impact, you are talking about the rate impact before the effect of the rate riders, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And it turns out that the effect of the rate riders is to actually reduce the overall ultimate final rate impact of your proposal from the 3 percent to a lower number, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, it's an effective rate of 1.1 percent.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And my question is:  When you went out to the customers, did you know, or did you have an idea that the post-rate rider number was going to be lower than the pre-rate rider number?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We knew that there was a rate rider implication that would be -- that was modifying as we proceeded.

So we knew that they would be different than the overall percentage.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, what I am getting -- what I want to get to is that I don't understand -- like, do you agree with me -- and I can ask this question on the other panel.  But at the end of the day, customers aren't very sophisticated about the implication of a pre rate rider number and a post rate rider number.  They just want to know the number.

I mean that would be your expectation, isn't it?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think that would be a question for panel 3.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, sorry, let me just stop there.

I take it this company, Toronto Hydro, prides itself in knowing its customers and being sensitive to its needs, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And people on this panel are in a position within the company that fulfil that role, knowing its customers and being sensitive to its needs, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you guys can't answer that question from a corporate perspective?  I don't care what your consultant says; I want to know from a corporate perspective.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Stephenson, I think you asked me how I would characterize the customer, you used words such as sophisticated or unsophisticated.  I am not in a position to answer those questions. But it certainly...


MR. STEPHENSON:  What is your understanding about how your customers perceive rate impact, whether they make the distinction about pre rider and post-rider?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is best level to panel 3, where you actually have representatives from the company that are both dealing with the rate impacts and also dealing with the nature of customer engagement, not just the consultant, but actually Toronto Hydro representatives which also include those from a regulatory perspective.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I think I am entitled to know.  I mean, if the witnesses are prepared to say they don't know, then I think the Board is entitled to know that.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think it should be taken --


MR. STEPHENSON:  If they do know the answer, I think the Board is entitled to know that, too.  The fact somebody else can speak to it doesn't mean that these good folks aren't in a position to answer.

MR. KEIZER:  I also think you should be asking in the context of their expertise and why they're here, which is they’re here with respect to capital and they're here with respect to the plan which they put forward, not with respect to the rate impacts, which is why we have a particular witness on panel 3 that is dealing with those matters.

So if I want to pick and choose and cherry-pick areas to ask witness questions, it seems to me the process will ultimately break down because we really should be tailoring it to the people that have the best knowledge and can give the Board the best answer, and not just any answer.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stephenson, I don't quite understand why you need this particular panel to answer if another panel is prepared to answer.

It's Toronto Hydro we want responding, correct?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I get that.  But there is a direct feedback into the plan and the selected plan.  And maybe -- let me ask another question maybe, and if they can answer that one, they can answer that one.

I mean, the reality is that once the effect of the riders is taken into account, you could spend a lot more money in this plan and still meet the 3 percent rate impact that you talked to your customers about.  Isn't that fair?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And if you spent some of that extra money, you could address some of the asset management shortfalls that your actual proposed plan has in that envelope, couldn't you?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Mr. Stephenson, I would like to make a clarification to your previous question, which, if I understood correctly, was if the rate riders were to be applied it would mean that we can spend more, and --


MR. STEPHENSON:  And meet a 3 percent overall --


MS. CIPOLLA:  And that question is no, and it is no because effectively what the Board -- what would be approved we would spend to that level.

And so there is a CRRRVA account that would effectively, because it is asymmetrical, would provide customer protection around that, and so in your follow-up question, which was around, if you had more money what you would do with that, Mr. Lyberogiannis can speak to that specifically.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I confess I don't understand the answer you just gave to me.  I thought it was fairly linear that, you know, if you -- if your plan costs X dollars, it will have Y rate impact.

If you give -- and you have made it clear that the rate riders have a tempering effect on rate impact, it reduces the rate impact -- doesn't that give you more head room, so to speak, in terms of the cost of your plan and still meet a 3 percent post-rate rider rate impact?  I thought it was that simple.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  The plan is based on a capital revenue requirement that is fixed.  The application of variance accounts are part of the DRO process and the implications that they have.  And so specifically in the context of discussing about what we can and can't spend, it is based on the plan that is approved in isolation of the DVAs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I suppose I understand that part.  But what I am talking about is making the plan bigger.  You know, you say it is based upon a fixed plan.  I am saying, unfix the plan.  Make it bigger.  You've got more head space on your constraint of rate impact than you say -- than you thought you had.

MS. CIPOLLA:  I do think that panel 3 is ideal to speak to this.  The one thing I would say is in the evolution of the plan, the rate impacts materialize over time, and so as years pass, as balances arise, they change.

And so at a point in time they're at a certain level and they modify.  So you can't take a snapshot at a particular day and say as at today that that information is applying to what that impact is.

So we take consideration throughout and our customer engagement was done on the basis that it was, and panel 3 is best to speak to it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just one question I did have.  Sorry, you mentioned a CRRRVA -- can you give me the full -- capital-something-something, I take it?

MR. KEIZER:  Capital revenue requirement --


MS. ANDERSON:  Capital revenue requirement.

MR. KEIZER:  -- related variance account.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I just want to talk briefly about reliability metrics.  The argument is going -- that you are going to encounter in this case, it comes as no surprise to you, is in the past period your reliability metrics have generally speaking improved.  Why do you need more money?

You are aware that that is the issue.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, those are questions that have been asked of us.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So the amount that you spend on system renewal is only one of the factors that affects your -- the trend in your reliability over time.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Another factor that affects the reliability over time is going to be the state of your system, you know, the system to which you are applying those dollars.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's a dynamic thing as well.  The state of your system today is not the same as the state of your system five years ago.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In some ways it's improved.  And in other ways it is five years older.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, in some ways it has improved, in some ways it has deteriorated.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  So the analysis of -- or let's put it this way.  The nexus between your system renewal spend and your reliability metrics trend is not a one-to-one relationship.  It is more complicated.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, it is a complicated relationship.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And your reliability -- reliability metrics are also a -- I think you said specifically in your evidence they are a lagging indicator?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, they are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I think I know what that means, but can you tell me what that actually means as distinct from a leading indicator?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  A lagging indicator is backwards-looking.  So when we report on reliability, we will report on the 2018 results, for example, or the 2017 results.  They're an indicator of reliability at that time in the past, as compared to a leading indicator, such as asset condition, which would allow us to -- or would provide insights as to what the condition of the system might be in years to come.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So this is like the old disclaimer with respect to investment performance:  Past performance is no indicator of future performance?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  That's similar to the dialogue we had with Dr. Higgin this morning.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Okay.  If I can get you to turn up -- I provided a compendium of some documents.  If I can get you to turn that up.  I hope you have it.

I am just going to look at the moment at the first four pages, and I think this is just going to be an undertaking.  Have you got that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Mr. Millar, I wonder if I could get a number on this.

MR. MILLAR:  It is J3.3 (sic.)
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  PWU COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not sure who I should be talking to about these charts that we have prepared, but -- and I just want to find out if you can -- at the end of the day I am going to be asking for an undertaking simply to confirm that Toronto Hydro agrees with the arithmetic we have done and the presentation we have made, and if not, to tell us where we've gone wrong.

MS. NARISETTY:  So I have taken a look, and they look generally accurate.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  We just -- Madam Chair, what you will see is, we've taken their health scores, and if you look particularly at page 3 and page 5, what we've done is looked at their -- extracted from the evidence the current health score, the future health score, and then expressed at the right-hand columns simply the change between the two things.

At page 3, the change is reflected in unit numbers.  And then at page 5, the change is reflected in percentage numbers.  Okay?

And frankly, we thought this would be useful.  It is certainly useful to us and ultimately, we thought it might be useful to the Board as well.

So can I just get an undertaking to let us know if Toronto Hydro is in agreement with particularly those change numbers?  And if not, to assist us by telling us what the right numbers are.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Millar, can we get an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think that is J3.3, Mr. Stephenson, that is the same one you were referring to earlier?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry.

MS. ANDERSON:  The previous one I think was for his compendium.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.

MS. ANDERSON:   I wonder if it should be a K.

MR. MILLAR:  That is K3.3, in fact, and the undertaking is J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO REVIEW AND CONFIRM WHETHER TORONTO HYDRO IS IN AGREEMENT WITH THE CHANGE NUMBERS IN THE TABLES AT PAGE 3 AND PAGE 5 OF EXHIBIT K3.2.


MR. MILLAR:  It's 3.2, the compendium; my mistake.

MR. STEPHENSON:  K3.2.  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I want to deal specifically with pole replacements for a moment, just as an illustrative example of asset replacements, really.

I think we asked the question about how many poles you were planning on replacing during the plan period, and I think the answer you gave is just that you didn't know specifically in any event.

But we did a little bit of math and the math that we looked at was this, that we looked at the number of pole replacements you had done over the last 3 years and that number was an average of around 2,800 poles a year.  Does that sound about right?  Is that a number you are familiar with?

It comes from Exhibit U, tab 1B, schedule 1, page 14, if it matters.  It is not important what the precise number is.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Stephenson, if you could just bear with me.  The question that you had asked us previously I don't believe was how many poles we've been replacing annually.

I think the question was that you wanted us to forecast something, and I don't have the specific interrogatory or undertaking in front of me.

With respect to the number of poles that we are looking to replace on an annual basis, there is a specific table that is on the record.  It would be U-AMPCO-130.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And that would provide you an indication of the number of poles that Toronto Hydro is forecasting to replace.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  Let me just...


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If I can just ask the screen to stop there.  So what I am looking at specifically is the overhead circuit and renewal program.  And if we slide over to the 2020-2024 period, you will see the number of poles that Toronto Hydro is seeking to replace as part of that particular program.

There are other programs that also replace poles as well, and the figure of 2,800, 3,000 is probably about right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  When I line this up against your health forecast, and you will remember Mr. Rubenstein spent time with you this morning about those numbers, the numbers of poles that were newly at health index four and five over the period if you didn't do anything I thought was around 15,000 or so.

And the question is:  Is your replacement rate, looking at this U exhibit that we just had in front of us, is that going to be more or less than the newly health index 4 and 5 numbers?  In other words, are you better off at the end of the period than you are now or not, from a health perspective?

MS. NARISETTY:  So we are predicting that in 2024, without any investments, we'll have roughly 33,000 wood poles in HI4 and 5 categories, and we have drawn your attention to our plan for how many wood poles we expect to replace in the next rate period.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I can go and do the math.  I appreciate that.  But I would have thought this is something you actually know the answer to.

Do you have more or less -- given your anticipated replacement rate, do you have more or less poles in the 4 and 5 at the end of the period than you do at the beginning?

I appreciate there is not a perfect mis-matching.  But generally speaking, you must have as an objective that the number is either, or an expectation it is going to be higher, or lower, or the same.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Generally our programs have been calibrated to maintain the condition of the system.

However, with respect to wood poles, Mr. Stephenson, we do expect that we will not necessarily be keeping up with the pole conditions as you have identified in our forecast.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And is that one of the casualties of rate impact, if I can call it that?  In other words, but for your price constraints or your rate impact constraints that we talked about earlier, your rate would be higher?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If you just bear with me for one moment, I am just going to find an interrogatory, Mr. Stephenson.

If I can direct you to 2B-Staff-73.  This is a particular interrogatory that Staff had asked us, asking specifically about details as we stepped through from our initial, to our penultimate, to our final plan.

Yes, we did make a reduction to the overhead system renewal program, so this was one of the programs that we reduced as a result of constraints that we had.

MR. STEPHENSON:  About 53 million, it looks like.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It was 53 million.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, fair enough, thanks.

Madam Chair, I am now about to go to the confidential material.  I am not going to be very long in that and there's some additional material -- well, on the same subject matter which isn't going to be confidential that I have to deal with after.  Just so you know my game plan.  But it is about the same subject matter.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We can go in camera then.  I will take us off air.  Anyone who has not signed the undertaking -- Mr. Keizer, I will ask you and/or Ms. Coban to confirm that people remaining in the room are all part of your group or not.  I don't know all of the faces.  But everyone else, please depart and I will take us off air.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, Staff has a list of people who have signed.  We are worried it is not quite complete, so maybe just give us a minute to confirm with some people that they're allowed to be here.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I will take us off-air while we are conferring.
--- On commencing in camera at 2:20 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are good, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Panel, there is a couple of documents I would ask you to have in front of you.  One is JTC4.18 and the other is JTC4.18, Appendix A.  And you were asked some questions about this analysis at the outset of the proceeding by Mr. Janigan, but I wanted to explore it with you just a little bit more.

And I think the best place to actually look is at Appendix A, which is the graphical representation.  The first question I have for you is, was this comparison exercise undertaken by Toronto Hydro for the purposes of this hearing and to provide evidence in this hearing?  Or was it undertaken for a management purpose within Toronto Hydro?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The purpose of our analysis was taken initially to determine the reasonableness of the utilization of external contractors.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So in other words, for an internal Toronto Hydro management purpose?  Not for the purpose of this hearing?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  Sorry about that, I was just confirming with my colleague here.

Yes.  The purpose of the analysis was initially, as I mentioned, to determine a cost comparison and the reasonableness of the utilization of external support services for the purposes of our capital program.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so who was the target audience, in terms of the results of your comparison exercise?  Was it the board of directors?  Was it senior management?  Was it line management?  You know, who did you do this for?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It was for the organization, in particular senior management.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And was it -- were the results presented to senior management?  Presumably they were presented at some point in time, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And did they -- how was it presented to them?  Was it presented -- you know, was there some kind of a memo or a PowerPoint or something that explained the methodology and what the conclusions were?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It would have been in presentation format, including Appendix A that we see in front of us here, as well as the methodology that was provided in the other undertaking.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Can I get an undertaking to produce that document?

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the information is before the Board in the response to the undertaking given at the technical conference, both the methodology and the diagram.  I am not sure why a PowerPoint presentation that deals with the communication of it internally is necessarily relevant to the determination of the issue before the Board.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Maybe my friend wasn't paying attention during the Board's ruling about this.  I thought the Board made it pretty clear that the -- there was a, in its view, a significant failure to provide information regarding the methodology, but maybe I misunderstood the Board's ruling.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stephenson, help us understand the purpose for needing more details than have already been provided.  What is the underlying reason that relates to this proceeding?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, if the Board is going to -- the Board is being asked to give some weight to this information, and it is just not at all clear to me that there is any valid methodology underpinning it, frankly.  And certainly there is no real information about the specifics of the methodology.  We have a graph, or a chart -- or graph, I guess, that I am going to ask questions about, but apparently there's a document that contains a narrative about the methodology, that explained it to the people that were ostensibly going to act upon it.  It strikes me as that that is the best evidence about the methodology.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, Madam Chair, there is two aspects, I guess.  One, the panel is here and there is an individual on the panel who can actually discuss the methodology and can speak to the undertaking, and to the extent that it is lacking, my friend can certainly ask questions to clarify the methodology, given that there is someone here to speak to it today rather than a PowerPoint presentation which may or may not go to the issue fully that he could otherwise currently explore.

And the second is that I think the other question about probative value of the information is, to the extent that this information is provided, it certainly is relevant to the historical period, but I am not sure that it is -- necessarily forms the underpinning of forecast values, but I think in terms of the methodology, if that is what my friend is concerned about, he is free to explore that with the witnesses who are before you right now.

MS. ANDERSON:  I guess my question for the panel is, what were you asking this panel to take from the information, the confidential information that was filed in your evidence?  What were you asking us to interpret or understand from that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  Madam Chair, the main takeaway that Toronto Hydro wanted the Panel to take away from the utilization of this analysis is to determine [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Since I don't think it is a barrier to continue, if we let you know after the break whether or not we will require an undertaking.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure, that's fine.

MS. ANDERSON:  We will hold off.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me ask you specifically about the chart, just so I understand how it works.

So generally speaking, on the left-hand side, you've got the costs of Toronto Hydro undertaking a project, correct?  And on the right-hand side is a theoretical cost of the contractor performing the same work, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That is correct.  What we're trying to compare here is taking a given project and drawing an apple-to-apple comparison, if that project was completed internally or externally.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But I think you described previously that the contractor costs are not actual contractor costs, in the sense that you actually engaged a contractor to perform a similar project and then took their actual numbers.

These are, in fact, derived costs?  They're not actual invoices you have received from a contractor.

MR. TRGACHEF:  If I understand the question, no, we did not do the identical project twice and compare those costs, or tried to compare one project against a like project.  No project is alike to be able to do that.

What we did do in this analysis was we would take a project that was completed internally using as-constructed information and financial attributes to that project, and then we would take that information and compare that to what it would cost to perform that exact same project utilizing external unit costing.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But you didn't, just to be clear, take the project specs of the project that you had completed internally and send them out to a bunch of contractors and say, if we had asked you to do this work, what would you have charged us.  You did not do that, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  This analysis was completed in collaboration with our contract administrators, as well as our contractors reviewing the as-constructed information and determining the unit costing that would be applied to that work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Contract administrators are Toronto Hydro personnel?

MR. TRGACHEF:  They are, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me ask you about one of the -- the first set of costs, starting going from the bottom-up, if I could.

And the first item on both sides is something called "THESL material on cost material."  I got that right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  As I look at the chart, it looks to me like those are identical on both sides.  Am I right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes.  And the reason for that is Toronto Hydro supplies the material in both cases.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And is that in fact the way Toronto Hydro typically does projects, that it purchases the material and has the contractor work with the materials that Toronto Hydro has purchased?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  All right.  Then the next block is essentially the labour and fleet on each side, right?  And I guess on the contractor side, you've got profit, overhead and administration as well.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]                             Am I right about that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Just to make sure that I'm following here, so on the THESL side, there is three components that create the unit costs and that would be the burden labour, which is a T and M cost, time and material.  And then you can add on to that the overhead administration and the costs of capital.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  Let's ignore the -- let's just stay in the second group on each side.  Because there is, sort of four blocks on each side.  Right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So I am now looking at the second block.

MR. TRGACHEF:  So you are comparing -- just so I understand, you are comparing the burdened labour fleet versus the unit cost?

MR. STEPHENSON:  [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

MR. TRGACHEF:  And the reason for that, as I was trying to explain, is that unit cost is comprehensive of overhead admin, burden labour fleet, and profit, which is in our three blocks that I just described.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And then the next 2 blocks on the contractor side are actually Toronto Hydro internal costs, aren't they?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Are you referring to the audit costs and the PSO admin?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, they are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So the dotted square box -- actually, the only cost for the contractor on the contractor side is the second block, right, the unit cost?  Everything else is Toronto Hydro costs?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  And so going over now to the Toronto Hydro side, the block called Ontario Hydro admin, I take it that is your sort of supervision, back office support, all of that sort of stuff?  Overhead costs of some kind.

MR. TRGACHEF:  The overhead admin incorporates the cost of the organization to administer the capital work being described in this analysis.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And that's all the levels of supervision, management, plus, you know, support of various descriptions, right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes.  It would be throughout the organization in support of completing the capital work described.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Then the last block on the Toronto Hydro side is something called cost of capital.  I understand, generally speaking, what cost of capital means in the context of a hearing like this.

But what capital are we -- what capital is being referred to that has a cost attached to it for the purposes of this analysis?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  So the costs of capital would incorporate items such as AFUDC, which is the cost to finance the project.  And I will pass that over to my finance colleagues here to provide greater detail, if you like.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But just stopping right there, you've got to finance the project on the other side too, right?  When it was performed by contract, you still have to finance it.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The cost of capital, the 9.3 percent represents the ROE, the return on equity component, that is similar to what would be used in a revenue requirement calculation.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But return on what equity for the purposes of this calculation?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  It's -- in the calculation of revenue requirement there is a return on equity calculation that happens on rate base.  So that is what that percentage represents.

MR. STEPHENSON:  What rate base are we talking about?  Are we talking about the value of the constructed asset?  The 9.3 return on this capital project that is in the example?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  To answer your question on costs of capital for the purposes of this analysis, it was -- like I mentioned, it was utilized to provide an apple-to-apple comparison of a project if it was to be constructed internally and mirror that project if it was constructed externally.

So as -- if I can direct you to the unit cost part, you can see that within the unit cost there is a provision for profit.

So to do a direct comparison to what that project would cost and what it includes, on Toronto Hydro's side we did use a proxy, which is our cost-of-capital ROE.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, I appreciate that is what you tried to do.  But the reality is, when you are doing it -- when the contractor is building it, Toronto Hydro is getting a return on equity as well.  Like, you are building a physical asset -- this is a capital project, right, by definition.  So it's going into your rate base and you are getting return on equity on that, right?  So where is that on the right-hand side of this column?  And while you are thinking about that, you know, your administrative people and your audit people, they're sitting in buildings.  They have computers.  They're using capital assets to do their work, presumably.  Where is the return on equity for them?

Like, shouldn't there be a cost of capital box on the contractor side of this?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Stephenson, as I mentioned, for the purposes of this analysis, it was to do a direct comparison --


MR. STEPHENSON:  My point, sir --


MR. TRGACHEF:  -- of apples to apples.

MR. STEPHENSON:  My point here is you may have tried to do apples to apples, but what you have done is apples to farmhouses.  Like, if you were doing apples to apples you would have Toronto Hydro's cost of capital appear on the contractor's side of this analysis.  That is an apples-to-apples comparison, sir.

MR. KEIZER:  And I believe Mr. Stephenson has the witness's response, and I think the remainder is argument.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me ask you just a couple more questions about this.

You have indicated that the Toronto Hydro side of the costs -- 
[REDACTED]
[REDACTED] -- those were your -- those are actual costs in relation to an actual project.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I don't know if the ins and outs of the collective bargaining process is necessarily relevant to this process, and what could have been or should have been negotiated or could have been negotiated during that process.

MR. STEPHENSON:  My point is simply this, and I was hoping to get a factual answer to establish something I can argue downstream is, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]           That is the point that is going to be made downstream.  I just want to find out if this witness is aware that that proposal was out there.

MR. KEIZER:  [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Keizer, we spend every waking minute in this hearing talking about what would have happened, could have happened, should happen.  In fact, we have spent all of our time talking about alternate universes.  That is all we do in these hearings.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I would hope the alternate universe reflects that of the electrical system and the actual capital we're putting in the ground, not what happens in a collateral process with labour negotiations --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Exactly.  I agree with you.  Either he knows or he doesn't know.  That is the only question I have.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I'm just -- my submission is that the question is not relevant.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stephenson, we are going to leave it to argument.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I just have a last area on this, and this does not -- this is not confidential.  Well, actually you know, what maybe -- maybe the answer will lead me to a confidential place, and so I don't want to pre-empt that.

Sir, in my compendium after the first -- starting on page 6, there is a bunch of pictures.  And I don't need to get into them if I can deal with this generically.

But let me ask you the following question.  It is my understanding that it is not uncommon that when Toronto Hydro has capital works performed by contractors, that it has to bring it -- being Toronto Hydro -- has to bring out its own internal staff to those project places to do either completion work or remediation, work because the work done by the contractors is incomplete or improper.

You are aware of that phenomenon, are you sir?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I would disagree with that statement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  What aspect of that statement do you disagree with, sir?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The part that it is common.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I think I said not uncommon.  But let me let you characterize the frequency, sir.

MR. TRGACHEF:  My apologies.  The part that it is uncommon, but it does happen is what I disagree with.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I am going to give you the floor here, sir.

How would you characterize the frequency of that?  Don't let me characterize it.  I am going to let you characterize it.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Instead of trying to characterize the frequency of what you are describing here in your compendium, what I can tell you is that Toronto Hydro does have an established comprehensive contractor management program that is underpinned by our internal MCR process with contracts that are administered utilizing a tool box of management tools, including pre-qualification, performance measures, evaluations, short interval control, oversight meetings, third-party auditing, and a governance management process.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And remediation, right, by internal staff?

MR. TRGACHEF:  As part of our contractor management program, we do have what we call a non-conformance management system.

The non-conformance management process would identify through our audits, either through our third party auditor or our field administrators, any deficiencies that they would observe on daily site visits -- or site inspections, excuse me.

MR. STEPHENSON:  My point here, sir, isn't that your contractors do a good job or a bad job.  My point is that you incur a category of internal costs or -- you have described a bunch of internal costs, and I am identifying another category of internal costs being remediation costs on contractor work. And I don't see that in your comparison at appendix A.

Would you agree with me, sir, that insofar as Toronto Hydro incurs internal costs -- whether they be audit, or whether they be remediation -- that it properly forms part of the contractor cost side of the ledger?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I would not agree with that statement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Well, you're not supposed
to -- this is a question you're not supposed to ask in cross-examination.  But why not?  Why isn't that a proper cost?

Toronto Hydro has to spend money on the remediation when they have to do it.  Why shouldn't that get put on the contractor side of the ledger in any comparison?

MR. TRGACHEF:  First of all, Mr. Stephenson, through our contractor management system, our contractors are held accountable for any non-conformances, or deficiencies, quality, adherence to standards.

If a non-conformance is identified, there is a remediation process that would be introduced where a contractor would have to mitigate that deficiency within a period of time.

So in a case where a deficiency is found -- and this is no different than an internal project, because no project is perfect every time -- there is remediation that may be required.  And that is done through our system and our robust management system -- or process, sorry.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I think we are finished in camera, at least as far as I am concerned.  I just wanted to check to see if I had anything else, but you may want to canvas the room while I am doing that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sure.  Was anyone else going to ask questions specifically on this confidential matter?  Mr. Hann, you seem to be reaching for the microphone.

MR. HANN:  Madam Chair, it's not about this.  It's about other confidential material.  I don't know whether you would want to do that today or during my cross.

MS. ANDERSON:  It is not about the labour versus contractor?

MR. HANN:  No, it's not.

MS. ANDERSON:  It is this panel, though?

MR. HANN:  It is this panel, yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Any idea how long you would be in camera?  Because --

MR. HANN:  It depends how long they take to answer my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Any estimate of how many questions you have?

MR. HANN:  Six.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We will take the break around 3:15, so let's see if we can remain in camera while you ask yours and we will go back to Mr. Stephenson after.

Okay, thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Hann:


MR. HANN:  I would like you to turn -- I apologize you don't have a copy of my compendium at the moment.  But in the K1.2, SEC compendium, page 23, there is a chart that shows SAIDI, SAIFI and CAIDI.

Point number vii.  Would you agree that there are many ways to show SAIDI, SAIFI and CAIDI comparisons?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I am not sure I understand your question, Mr. Hann.

MR. HANN:  Is this the only way that SAIDI, SAIFI can be shown in the evidence?  Or are there other ways that SAIDI, SAIFI and CAIDI can be displayed compared to other utilities?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  This specific table has SAIDI, SAIFI, CAIDI and three columns: Toronto Hydro's performance in 2018, Toronto Hydro's performance in 2017 and the CA -- I believe that is the CA composite in 2017.

MR. HANN:  Right.  Can it be displayed -- can data from CA be displayed in other fashions?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I guess I am still struggling with exactly what is your question.

MR. HANN:  Okay, I will go on with my next question.  Is Toronto Hydro a member of the CA service continuity committee?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we are.

MR. HANN:  Okay.  And would you please turn to U-AMPCO-124, Appendix B.  Page 48.  Sorry, is it -- okay.  48.  Sorry, four zero for the list.

There.  Okay.  Would you agree that Toronto Hydro is part of the list of urban utilities in the CEA?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. HANN:  Okay.  Now, please look at -- I hope I have got the page numbers right.  I think they're page 51, 52, 53, 57, and 58.  Let's start at 51.  51.

Okay.  And the one that I looked at, on the website it had a different number.  It is group 1, and the table number, graph number 6-1, Region 1, SAIDI excluding MPE.  Okay, there.  Thank you.

Would you explain to the Board what the colours in these charts represent, please?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I apologize, Mr. Hann, I don't have this specific report in my notes right now.  If I could maybe ask just to scroll up.  I'm assuming there would be an explanation of specifically what those are in the legend someplace.

MR. HANN:  You guys provided this to AMPCO.  It was undertaking number --


MR. KEIZER:  The document was disclosed, but I don't believe that we understood -- there is different numbering on the different portions of it, as to what the colours represent.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is there a legend within the report that is just close by?

MR. HANN:  I believe, Madam Chair, that these colours represent quartile bands of the performance of the utilities listed in the list for group 1.  And as a member of the CEA, Toronto Hydro I expect would be aware of that.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, with all due respect to Mr. Hann, one, there is a lot of material in this proceeding, and this one chart may not be emblazoned upon the minds of witnesses, but also whether or not Toronto Hydro reflects just these witnesses --


MR. HANN:  I'm sorry, I can't hear you.

MR. KEIZER:  My point being is that I think it is incorrect to say that Toronto Hydro provided the document, therefore should have knowledge of every aspect of the document, including the colours on this chart.

Mr. Hann is asking questions.  It is up to him to make sure that his questions are clear and understandable and not for us to decipher the basis of it.

MR. HANN:  Okay.  As a member of the committee, is it possible for Toronto Hydro to draw on all of those charts that represent region 1, excluding the per kilometre metrics, so SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI, draw the performance of Toronto Hydro on these charts that were provided under the undertaking AMPCO -- or U-AMPCO-124, Appendix B?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. HANN:  And also, if Toronto Hydro would explain what the different colours mean in that undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Fine.

MS. ANDERSON:  To the extent I guess it is in the report.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we will mark that, we'll call it JX3.4, the X for confidential, because I believe all of the responses, I assume, Mr. Keizer, would be confidential as well?

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.
UNDERTAKING NO. JX3.4:  TO DRAW ON ALL OF THOSE CHARTS THAT REPRESENT REGION 1, EXCLUDING THE PER KILOMETRE METRICS, SO SAIDI, SAIFI, AND CAIDI, DRAW THE PERFORMANCE OF TORONTO HYDRO ON THESE CHARTS THAT WERE PROVIDED UNDER THE UNDERTAKING U-AMPCO-124, APPENDIX B; ALSO, TO EXPLAIN WHAT THE DIFFERENT COLOURS MEAN.

MR. HANN:  Madam Chair, that is the end of my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Was there anything else -- anyone else that had in camera for this panel?  Seeing none, I think we will go back on the air ten more minutes, Mr. Stephenson?  Is that -- can we finish you up?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I suspect I'm going to be about one more minute.

MS. ANDERSON:  Oh, okay.  Let's finish you up then.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, before -- are we on air?  Before we go on air, you were going to take back, I guess, over the break the question of production of some further document.

It is Mr. Stephenson's undertaking, and I guess based on where his cross-examination goes, I guess it seems he has a problem with the report and will make some argument
-- or problem with the chart and what it represents and will make some argument.  I think it would be beneficial for at least my client in also making an argument to have a better understanding of what each of those items represents and possibly the numbers underlying those numbers -- underlying the bars on the charts so we could have a better understanding of that as well.  So that is just something for you to -- our submissions on the --


MS. ANDERSON:  So I --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- possible production of -- I think there was a memo that Mr. Stephenson asked for.

MS. ANDERSON:  I am not quite clear.  Are you just -- are you saying that you want them to do -- provide some further analysis of the charts?  Or just what has...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, two things.  First, I guess based on the cross-examination that went on, we would also be supportive of having that document, I think it's -- the second thing is I think it may be helpful to the Board at least for my client based on some of the things that we heard from Mr. Stephenson's cross-examination to understand what the numbers are.

If we look at the table, there are no dollar numbers.  It is simply the graphs.  Just to have a -- to understand what the dollars are for each of these bars, I guess, would be helpful.

I think it would be helpful for the Board as well as my client to help make sense of this and understand based on some of the cross-examination we heard.

MS. COBAN:  Madam Chair, we can provide a further explanation of each of these categories and the build-up to the results that you see here displayed on the screen, if that would be helpful.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We will come back with that when we talk about the broader undertaking.  Okay.  We will go back on the air.  One second.
--- On resuming in public at 3:08 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stephenson, we are back on the air.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Just one additional item.  In my compendium, I made reference to the series of pictures.  And I had a simple question.  There was sort of three little case studies of pictures there.

Do you have any personal knowledge, sir, of any of the issues depicted in those photographs?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Not in front of me, no.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That's fine.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Oh, that really was quick.  Okay.  I think we will take the break rather than moving to Ms. Grice.  So we will take 20 minutes now.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:09 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  We're back and before we go to Ms. Grice, just on the undertaking -- and I just have to stop for a second and think whether anything I am going to say is confidential.  I don't think so, but in the abundance of caution, but given the purposes for which the information was put forward by Toronto Hydro, we will not require the filing of the internal PowerPoint presentation that is associated with it.  But we would find it helpful to get greater explanation of the components of the chart and the dollars associated with those components.

MS. COBAN:  We can do that.

MS. ANDERSON:  And that is a confidential exhibit, obviously.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be JX3.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JX3.5:  TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION OF THE COMPONENTS OF THE CHART AND THE DOLLARS ASSOCIATED WITH THOSE COMPONENTS

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Now I think we are on to Ms. Grice.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  I have an exhibit, if we can get that marked, please.

MR. MILLAR:  That's the compendium, Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Sorry, yes, my compendium.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, K3.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MS. GRICE:  If we can please turn to page 6 of the AMPCO compendium, I had a couple of questions on the capital planning process.

I wrote in some dates on the version here, and I just want to recap what I think we have talked about and then I have some overlaying questions on top.

So it's my understanding that in phase 1, there was a customer engagement process that started December of 2016 and it continued on until March of 2017.  Then there was an intervenor stakeholder session held in June of 2017.

And then planning parameters were developed in early 2017, and then Toronto Hydro came out with an initial plan in Q1 of 2017.

Do I have that part of this story correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, we can confirm that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then from there, you went through your operational and financial planning process and you came up with a penultimate plan that you took to your board of directors in November of 2017 for approval.  That was the next stage?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  The only refinement I would make is that there was an initial plan that proceeded with the first step that you described.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Grice, I believe there is an electronic version of your compendium, but I don't think we got the hard copies, if there were hard copies.

MS. GRICE:  Oh, I'm sorry.

[Hard copies of compendium distributed]

MS. GRICE:  My apologies.  We are on page 6.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Then following the board of directors' meeting, there was customer engagement phase 2, and I believe that ran from April until June 2018.  Then there was a further refinement process, and then your application was filed in August of 2018 and that incorporates the capital plan, which is the subject of this panel.  Is that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Now, the level of investment in the DSP changed from the penultimate plan to the plan that was filed in the application.  Did this level of investment go back to your board of directors for approval?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No, as it was within the parameters that were approved by the board at the November 2017 meeting.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then in 2016, Toronto Hydro made a move to a new asset condition assessment methodology.

And so I just want to confirm that the DSP that was filed as part of the application, it had the input of this new condition methodology that reflected condition data to the end of 2017.  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And when was this asset condition assessment completed?  What was the time frame of that,  the version that informed the plan?

MS. NARISETTY:  So the results from the asset condition assessment that informed the final plan was completed in about Q1, 2018.

MS. GRICE:  Is there a particular month in Q1?  Was it January?

MS. NARISETTY:  March/April.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then if we go back and look at the penultimate plan, what was the asset condition assessment that informed that plan?  What version would have informed the penultimate plan?

MS. NARISETTY:  So the results were, like I said, finalized by March/April, and we had information or the results available for various asset classes starting Q3, 2017.

So we have 26 asset classes that we have asset condition assessments available for and it was a highly iterative process, so it is hard for me to say a particular version of the results that were part of the penultimate plan.

MS. GRICE:  But they wouldn't have been results that incorporated all of 2017, then?  It was in all of your 2017 condition data that informed that plan?

MS. NARISETTY:  So the final plan has the results from the 2017 data incorporated.

MS. GRICE:  Yes, sorry.  I am talking about the penultimate plan that went to your board of directors.  I am just trying to understand the asset condition assessment information that informed that plan.

MS. NARISETTY:  I would say the majority of the results were available by that time.  It was finalized by Q1, 2018.

MS. GRICE:  But we're in Q3, 2017 at this point.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. NARISETTY:  So the penultimate plan went to the Board in November 2017, and the results from CEA were starting to become available in Q3, 2017.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, but it wasn't the same final asset condition assessment that you used for your final plan?  It was a subset of that?

MS. NARISETTY:  Majority of it was there.  Refinements were made throughout the process and it was a highly iterative process.

And the final plan and the final asset condition assessment results are in alignment with the final plan.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Then going back to Q1 when you had your initial plan and a budget attached to that, was there an asset condition assessment that informed that plan?

MS. NARISETTY:  At that point -- so Q1, 2017, at that point we had the results available from the 2016 ACA methodology.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Can we please go to page 41 of the compendium?  I will just read the first three lines.  And Toronto Hydro is talking about key elements and objectives of the DSP, and it says there that:

"The most significant driver of investment in Toronto Hydro's DSP is asset failure and failure risk due to a continuing backlog of deteriorating and obsolete assets.  A key system-wide indicator of the magnitude of this challenge is the percentage of assets past useful life."

And below that you have got a figure where it shows that 24 percent of assets are at end of life by 2018, and then 9 percent will be at end of life by 2025, and then 67 percent of the assets will not be at end of useful life in that time frame.

So I just want to ask you a couple of questions about this.  When you are moving from the assets that are at end of life now and going to assets that are at end of life by 2025, my understanding is that has an assumption attached to it that there is no intervention in terms of spend, and I will further break that down to, there's no planned capital spending and there is no reactive capital spending.  Is that the correct assumption when looking at this figure?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

And then a lot of parties asked what Toronto Hydro's definition was of useful life.  And if we go to page 50, the question was answered in CCC 12.  And essentially Toronto Hydro is saying that it derivated the mean useful life by taking the maximum useful life and the minimum useful life and developing an average between those two based on the useful life that was provided in the 2009 Kinectrics report.  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And to be clear, when we look at this figure, it's not really telling us -- it's not based on the percentage of assets at useful life, is it?  It was derived some other way?  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  Perhaps I can take you to our undertaking response JTC2.14.

So we identified the percentage of assets that are at or past their useful life, and we translated that to the replacement value to establish a system-level metric, and that is how we derived the APUL figure.

MS. GRICE:  So in that calculation you have mixed in a whole grouping of assets and then the cost to replace those assets.  That is what is encompassed in those numbers?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Can we please turn to -- and I am sorry that this was not in my compendium.  I missed the slide I wanted.  If we can please go to 1A-CCC-1, Appendix A.

What this is, this is the board of directors' presentation that underpins the application before the Board.  And I just wanted to -- if we can please go to slide 29.

So in your discussion with Mr. Rubenstein regarding the DSP, he referenced the Board's decision, which states:

"The OEB shares concerns of the parties that age of the assets may be too heavily weighted in the determination of end of useful life.  Toronto Hydro concedes that age of the asset is the primary driver.  With respect to asset replacement, Toronto Hydro also states that asset condition does factor into the decisions they make in respect of asset replacement."

But when I look at this presentation that you made to your board of directors, it shows that you are still emphasizing age, and would you agree with me that that seems to be the emphasis here?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No, Ms. Grice.

MS. GRICE:  And why not?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  This particular slide that you have drawn our attention to is identifying three very high-level indicators of drivers that influence our decision-making.

However, for each and every one of the programs that makes up the 2020 to 2024 plan, the very detailed measures that we use, the considerations that we make, whether that be, you know, very specific types of equipment, condition of that equipment, PCBs, oil leaks, deficiencies, productivity, all of that is what we factor in when we make investment decisions.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  You mentioned earlier today that condition is a leading indicator of your capital plan.  So I just -- it just struck me that it was missing in this presentation.  So I will move on.

Can we please go to page 18.  So I want to talk a little bit about Toronto Hydro's Asset Condition Assessment Methodology, and this was filed as Appendix C to your DSP.

But before we do that, can we please go to page 40 of the compendium.  Now, I sent this table to Toronto Hydro, and what it is doing is comparing the results from the 2014 asset condition assessment using the methodology at that time, compared to the 2016 Asset Condition Assessment Methodology.  So this is before Toronto Hydro moved to the new methodology.

And I will just pause there and ask you, were there any calculation errors in the table that you would like to bring to my attention?

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes.  So in -- we provided the information in the IR response 2B AMPCO 42A and B, which I believe was used to derive this information, and provided percentages in the 2B AMPCO 42 response, and in order to convert the percentage in the five health bands to the asset count that is provided in this compendium, you also need to multiply that percentage by the percentage sample size that was also provided in the IR response and then multiply the result with the total population of assets in that asset class.

MS. GRICE:  I see, okay.  Okay.  Without having done that, I will just -- I will pause here then and --


MS. ANDERSON:  I'm sorry, were we getting -- you said there is errors in this -- calculation errors?  Were we getting updated calculations?  Is that necessary?

MR. KEIZER:  This was a document -- my understanding is this is a document that has been compiled by AMPCO based on information --


MS. ANDERSON:  I see.  Got it.

MR. KEIZER:  -- received from interrogatories, and the witness was indicating to Ms. Grice the fact that there were inaccuracies in the calculation.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  I am wondering directionally, though, even if the sample size is less, the percentages related to all of the categories are still the same.

And were you -- did you correct the table?  Is the -- directionally, are the 2016 asset condition assessment results better than 2014?  Is that something you can tell me?

MS. NARISETTY:  I don't have that information.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  So if we can please -- I want to now talk about the new methodology.  So just at a high level, I am just going to summarize what I think is included in the model, and you can let me know if I've got it right.

So my understanding is there is four main parts to the new Asset Condition Assessment Methodology.  The first part is you derive current and future health scores.  Then you convert these health scores to a probability of failure.  The model derives consequence of failure and there is also an asset criticality component.

Then through a whole bunch of these inputs, the output is a risk matrix.  Have I summarized that at a high level in an appropriate way?

MS. NARISETTY:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  What would you adjust from that?

MS. NARISETTY:  So the way we perform the ACA methodology, we first calculate the initial health score.  Then we also calculate the health score factor that is based on the condition information, and we multiply the initial health score with the health score factor, and the reliability factor to obtain a current health score.

And that score is used to put that asset in one of the five health index bands that would give us an indication of its probability of failure.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I was going to get into more detail on that, so thank you for that.

If we can please go to page 19, it says at the very bottom of the page under section 4:
"Toronto Hydro's implementation of CNAIM.  To date, Toronto Hydro's implementation of CNAIM has covered the derivation of current and future health calculations."


And then it says, if we go to line 17 of the same page, page 19 of the compendium:
"Toronto Hydro's immediate objective in moving to CNAIM was to replace the functionality of the previous ACA, which did not include a consequence of failure or asset criticality component.  Going forward, in addition to developing the incremental capability to convert a health score to probability of failure, Toronto Hydro intends to explore the consequence of failure and criticality aspects of CNAIM.  It will also examine opportunities to derive additional value from the existing feeder investment model by connecting it with, or subsuming it with the CNAIM approach to asset risk evaluation."

So my understanding of the two sections I just read to you is that to date, Toronto Hydro has only implemented the first part of those four parts I summarized at the beginning of my discussion on this, that you've converted the health scores or you derived the current and future health scores, but you have not done those other three things which is converting the scores to a probability of failure, deriving a consequence of failure, and completing the asset criticality components.

So the best way I think to look at this is if we can please go to page 71, sad here there is a figure which shows the overview of the new asset condition assessment methodology.

It is a little hard to see there, but essentially on the left-hand side you have a series of factors that you were mentioning that are used to help derive the health score.   Then on the right-hand side are a bunch of inputs that determine a consequence of failure.

So just starting with the factors on the left, from reading the asset condition assessment study, my understanding is that as you mentioned, when you put in asset age and expected life into the model and you take into account operational use -- which is the duty factor on the left -- and you also have a health score modifier that considers condition.  But there's two other factors here that have not been included in developing the health score.

The first one is the location factor, which is the top factor.  My understanding is that Toronto Hydro has set that default to 1 at this time.  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  And then you have a duty factor for some of your assets.  Toggling down, you have a health score modifier and you have included that.

Then the last one is a reliability modifier.  My understanding is that for most of the assets, Toronto Hydro has set this reliability factor to a default of 1, as there was no reliability collar as Toronto Hydro needs to collect more information on asset failures to implement this modifier.  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Then going over to the right-hand side, which is the consequence of failure inputs, my understanding is that the ACA that is used to inform this Distribution System Plan, that part of the new asset condition model was not undertaken either.  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  So when we go back to the points I read at the beginning, the main pieces that have been done is the health score.  You've got your current health score, which is something that the last model also was able to create and that the only difference today with what you've done in terms of implementing the new asset condition assessment model is you also calculated a future health score.  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.  And at the same time, I would add that the CNAIM methodology overcomes a number of limitations that we observed with the Kinectrics methodology.  And that's an addition when we move to the CNAIM methodology.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So just back to that high-level summary that I went through, it seems that three out of the four have been done or -- excuse me, three out of the four have not been done.  Three of the four major components of the asset condition assessment have not been done as part of this version of the new methodology.

MS. NARISETTY:  Can you please repeat the three components?

MS. GRICE:  That's right.  So looking at this chart, you've done the health score, but you haven't done the probability of failure that gets -- when the future health scores get converted to a probability of failure, that hasn't occurred yet.

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then you have not derived the consequence of failure to component, which is the right side of this chart?

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MS. GRICE:  And you have not done the asset criticality component?

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then when we go back to the reliability modifier, which -- and that's been set to a default of 1 for most of your assets, there are a couple of points I just wanted to talk about.

Can we please go to page 31 of the compendium?  This is an interrogatory by AMPCO where we asked in part (b):  "Does THESL track the age an asset fails for all asset classes?"


The response is on part B, that "the age of the age an asset fails is not tracked for all asset classes."

And that Toronto Hydro is not at this time tracking the age of removal of assets within the system, but it is something that you are looking to do in the future.  Is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  It's something that we do now, and intend to continue to do.  But it's done through our equipment failure program that the interrogatory refers to.

MS. GRICE:  Are you doing it for all asset classes, or guess -- sorry.  So it's done every time an asset fails?

MR. TAKI:  Every time an asset fails and it's returned from the field for analysis, would we will capture the age of the asset.

MS. GRICE:  What if you are removing assets as part of your capital program that have not failed, but are being removed for other reasons, do you record the age that those assets are removed from the system?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We do have data of that nature.

MS. GRICE:  So when we go back to the reliability modifier, and Toronto Hydro has confirmed that you need to collect more information on asset failures to implement this modifier, what more asset failure information are you thinking you need to collect?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. NARISETTY:  So the reliability modifier that is used in the CNAIM methodology, it helps the utility differentiate sub-groups within a certain asset class.  So we need -- yes, we need more information to be able to properly utilize the purpose of the reliability modifier in the model.  It is a sophisticated methodology, and we want to make sure that we use it appropriately.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

Then if we can just turn to page 23 and 24 of the compendium.  So this is the output of this version of the Asset Condition Assessment, which is -- which includes the derivation of the health scores.  And I just wanted to confirm the results of the current health index, is that 9 percent of Toronto Hydro's assets have a current health score in H1 and H5; is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  I haven't done that math to be able to say whether that is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Can we please turn to page 44 of the compendium.  We asked for a pie chart that shows the percentage of assets with health index scores of 20 -- of H14 and H15 -- or, sorry, HI4 and HI5, and you provided a chart that shows 9 percent is -- is that derived on a different basis, that chart?

MS. NARISETTY:  So the 9 percent in this IR is derived based on the table that you just referred to.  I believe your previous question asked me whether it was 9 percent in HI1 and HI5.  The 9 percent here is HI4 and HI5.

MS. GRICE:  I'm sorry, that is what I meant, H14 and H15 (sic).  My apologies.  Okay, thank you for that.

Okay.  Can we please turn to page 21 of the compendium.  Down at the bottom of the page under 4, you talk about the retention of UK firm EA Technology, and I am reading lines 27.  And you retained them to review your newly developed asset health models, recommend areas for improvement, and provide guidance and training to ensure organizational alignment with the asset management philosophy.

If we can next turn to page 94, please.  What this is, this is a stage 1 report from EA Technology, where they're summarizing some of the work that they've done for you, and under "scope of involvement" it says:

"EA Technology was engaged with Toronto Hydro on June -- on the 20th of June, 2017 to review the progress that Toronto Hydro has made with respect to its new ACA investment models."

And there are some findings in their work that I just wanted to review with you.  So if we can please turn to page 98.  One of the findings is calibration of average life.  So we've talked a little bit today about the fact that Toronto Hydro is using the values in its Asset Condition Assessment Methodology reflected 2009 Kinectrics report and that the useful life that are used in these algorithms within the model reflect that report.  Is that correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  And if we just look at what EA Technology says regarding the calibration of average life, so I am just reading under number 4:

"The average life calibration values which have been set within the models have been broadly set in line with reports prepared for THESL by an external consultant."

And I assume that is the Kinectrics 2009 report.

And it says here that:

"In almost every ACA model the approach THESL has taken has been to use the external consultant report as a broad brush.  While THESL is in the early stages of developing condition assessment models, the use of simple rules is acceptable.  However, this calibration input could be regarded as low-hanging fruit and should be refined.  Ordinarily average life calibration is set by dividing the asset population into sub-groups.  These may be by manufacturer/type, generation of device, decade of manufacture, insulation type, et cetera."

So the ACA methodology, the new one that underpins the DSP in this application, you didn't make these changes as part of that Asset Condition Assessment, did you?

MS. NARISETTY:  No, we did not.

MS. GRICE:  Then it says down in the very last paragraph:

"Average life calibration should be kept under regular review and be relevant to the asset population which remain in-service at the time of review.  A report which states that the average expected service life for a particular device type may be in the region of 30 years may be useful when the assets are introduced to the system.  However, after 45 years of active service, a stated value of 30 years is almost meaningless and will be very difficult to defend when challenged, especially when the vast majority of the asset population remains happily in-service."

So as a result of this report, which is dated Jan. 2018, you haven't gone back and looked at assets that are still in-service where the expected useful life is lower than that and updated that and made any further refinements, have you?

MS. NARISETTY:  We have not.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

Okay.  And then I just wanted to look at Board Staff 139, which is at pages 33, 34, and 35.  Those are the pages I just want to quickly look at.

So Board Staff asked questions about, in part (a), whether or not Toronto Hydro's proposed useful life is outside the Kinectrics range, and by that they mean in 2010 Kinectrics also did a report for the Board that a lot of utilities are following in terms of their useful lives.

They asked for the difference between what you are using and they're using.  And if you go over to page 34, figure 1 shows the useful lives for assets that differ from the 2010 Kinectrics study.

So it looks here like there are 12 categories of assets that are using a different useful life range than what the 2010 Kinectrics study is saying.  Is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, it is.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Then if we just turn over to page 35.  There is just an example here with breakers, and it shows the useful lives that Toronto Hydro is using that range from 25 to 30, but the OEB study range is from 35 to 65.

So would you not agree with me that by doing that, you are overstating possibly your needs of the system by having a low useful life?  It is giving a more pessimistic view of what is going on?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I wouldn't say that.  So on page 33 of your compendium, we have indicated at the start that Toronto Hydro has aligned to the Toronto Hydro Kinectrics study, and that is as allowed by the OEB, that we have used the Toronto Hydro study and we're aligned to the useful lives that are presented in that study.

MS. GRICE:  My understanding is EA Technology has recommended that Toronto Hydro update that study for the reasons that I mentioned before, where they're bringing into question some of the average useful lives that Toronto Hydro is using.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  EA Technology did make a recommendation or suggestion with respect to our asset condition assessment methodology, that was within the context of the asset condition assessment work that they were assisting us with.

And for the purposes of this application, in order to undertake what EA Technology is suggesting is considerable amounts of work, considerable data is required to do that.  And in the run up to preparing the information for this application, we simply did not have the time to do that.

MS. GRICE:  That's fair.  But would you agree that by doing that down the road, that that would ultimately improve the calibration and accuracy of your model?

MS. NARISETTY:  So we have stated in our response to IR 2B-SEC-44 that in response to EA Technology's recommendation, Toronto Hydro intends to update its useful lives value in the future and that we will explore opportunities to consistently gather more granular information where appropriate.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Then if we can please turn to page 99 of the compendium, EA Technology had another observation regarding maintaining the ACA model quality.  I am just going to read the first two paragraphs of that.

So it says:
"During the stage one model review process, EA Technology identified several errors within the ACA model equations and algorithms.  The issues highlighted have subsequently been corrected.  It should be noted that the high-level model reviews under taken during stage 3 of the project did not involve verification of any of the algorithms.  THESL have accepted that the models built during this rollout phase of the project have been vulnerable to poor input data quality, and there is little if any 'work flow' protection currently within the models.  THESL are predominantly working upon the basis that the source data will be of a sufficiently high enough quality that errors will not affect the process flow of any health score derivations, which is a risky route to take."

I take from reading that that improvements are needed down the road, in terms of calibrating for accuracy of your input data.  Is that fair?

MS. NARISETTY:  I would say improvements have been made.

MS. GRICE:  Since this January 2018 report?

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes, it was a highly iterative process and our algorithms ensure that the data quality is high, to ensure that the results are valid.

MS. GRICE:  Did those changes make it in time for the asset condition assessment version that underpins the DSP in this application?

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  If we can then please turn to page 84, this is part of SEC 44 where Toronto Hydro summarized some of the EA Technology findings.

There is one here I just wanted to understand a little more with respect to inspection data.
“EA Technology recommended Toronto Hydro include additional types of inspection data that it does not currently collect.  It should be noted that Toronto Hydro collects sufficient inspection data to rely on the results from the ACA methodology.  However, Toronto Hydro also notes that the additional inspection data would likely enhance the accuracy of the results.  As part of continuous improvement, Toronto Hydro updates its inspection forms and processes on a regular basis, resulting in a more accurate picture of the condition of its assets."

So in the old methodology that Kinectrics reviewed with you, they had something called a data availability index, and it gave a percentage scoring based on whether or not the needed inspection information was being collected for the assets.

So for example, if you just did visual inspections of poles and you looked at 100 percent of your poles, by not doing any more inspections, your data availability index would be low for that asset and it would be a gap in your system.

So my understanding is that doesn't apply in the new model.  And so I wanted to ask you when it references here appendix C to W, what C to W are is an evaluation of individual assets that you have put into your asset condition assessment methodology.

How does the model account for gaps in your inspection data?

MS. NARISETTY:  So I would not characterize it as gaps in inspection data.  Yes, having more inspection data is always beneficial to calculating the health score of an asset.  And the limitations that you just referred to regarding the Kinectrics methodology about the availability of certain inspection data and not being able to calculate the health score is definitely a limitation that we recognize, and is one of the advantages of using the CNAIM methodology, that even if you don't have all of the inspection data that you would normally collect on a certain asset, for example, it still is able to calculate a health score and still utilize the available condition information.  And that is the advantage of this more sophisticated model that enables that versus the Kinectrics methodology just could not calculate a health score based on just one piece of information.

MS. GRICE:  But what if you are missing key inspection results for an asset?  How does that work in the new methodology?  How can you rely on the outcome of the model if you are missing inspection data that the industry is saying you should be collecting.

I am not saying you are or are not.  I am just doing a hypothetical.

MS. NARISETTY:  So let's take an example.  For example, submersible transformer; if the only available information on a submersible transformer is that there is the presence of leaking oil for example, and that was the only information available on that transformer, the Kinectrics methodology could not have calculated a health score for that particular asset and that was a significant limitation, as it did not properly reflect or we would not know the actual condition of that asset in the field.

Whereas in the CNAIM methodology, having that critical piece of information is not missed.  It ensures that that critical piece of information, knowing that we have a transformer, submersible transformer that is leaking oil is able to be translated into a health score that is appropriate, appropriately reflecting the condition of that asset.

MS. GRICE:  I guess I was more talking about the opposite.  If you just had the age of the asset and the manufacturer and you were missing a whole bunch of inspection data, I gather from what you are telling me it will calculate a health score, but how reliable is that health score if that information is missing?  That creates a new problem.

MS. NARISETTY:  So if we only had "H" available for an asset, the CNAIM methodology would never place that asset beyond a HI3.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  If you had something a bit more than that but not enough, what would the AC --


MS. NARISETTY:  If it was an inspection result that was critical in nature, like for example leaking oil, it could potentially bump it to a HI4, HI5, depending on the criticality of that particular condition or inspection information that is available.

MS. GRICE:  But I am saying if it's something less than that, if it's not enough data inspection but it is not just age, what will the new methodology do with that?  Will it produce a health score?

MS. NARISETTY:  It would appropriately place it in the proper health index band that is reflective of its condition.

MS. GRICE:  Does it flag any caution for you as a user to say, you know, this asset needs further review or needs more data?  Or are you able to get that out of the model?

MS. NARISETTY:  Our work flows are set up that we are able to determine what level of inspection information is available for the various asset classes.

MS. GRICE:  Do you plan on having EA Technology review the ACA methodology moving forward?

MS. NARISETTY:  I don't know at this point.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And just a follow-up question.  When we were talking about the quality of the data -- and this was back on page 99 -- you said that -- or it says here that the high-level model reviews undertaken during stage 3 of the project did not involve verification of any of the algorithms.

What stage -- what is stage 3?

MS. NARISETTY:  I believe the project that was set up with EA Tech was broken into different stages.  I don't recall off the top of my head exactly what stage 3 encompassed.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

I am going to switch topics.  And I just have one area left.  I just wanted to ask about MAIFI.  So if we can please go to page 7.  There has already been some discussion on this, but my client is very interested in MAIFI, so I just want to make sure I have an understanding of what's been proposed in the application.

So this is a performance measure that was proposed in the last application, and number 5 is Momentary Average Interruption Frequency Index, or MAIFI.

My understanding is that that measure is not being carried forward into the new DSP.  Is that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That measure is not being proposed as a custom performance measure.  Toronto Hydro is, of course, going to continue to measure that and continue to review performance relative to it.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And I know there was an interrogatory that further explained why that custom measure wasn't going to be carried forward.  And my apologies, but I couldn't find it.  But there was an explanation given.  I believe it had to do with your SCADA coverage.

So can you help me out there?  Is there a system reason why you want to discontinue that measure?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If you can just bear with me for a moment.  I think I will be able to locate that interrogatory.

MS. GRICE:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Ms. Grice, if I can direct your attention to 1B-Staff-14.  This is the particular interrogatory that you were referring to.  We don't necessarily need to read the details, but your recollection is generally correct.

MS. GRICE:  So over the years Toronto Hydro's spent -- made investments in SCADA.  So can you tell me what your coverage is now on your system?  What percentage of your system has SCADA coverage?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't have the specific number, but I think the question you are asking refers also to the dialogue that I had with Dr. Higgin this morning.  The challenge that Toronto Hydro has is that the 4-kilovolt system is a legacy system of ours, and not all of the municipal stations that feed the 4-kilovolt system have SCADA or SCADA enabled, and as a result we do have parts of the system that are not adequately covered when it comes to measuring or monitoring momentary interruptions.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And are there investments planned in this DSP to address that issue?  To get additional coverage?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  And it's occurring in a couple of ways.  One way is through the voltage conversions that we are planning to do.  So you will recall there's been a lot of dialogue about area conversions.  So when we convert areas, whether they're rear lot or box constructions, if those areas do not have SCADA coverage then we would be upgrading.

Similarly, a lot of the work within our overhead and underground system renewal programs are directed at voltage conversions again.  So any areas that would not necessarily have SCADA coverage that are being converted would now receive it.

And furthermore, there are some investments within our stations renewal program that is also addressing that.  So there are a number of programs that go to that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

And just one last question on this.  Page 64, please.  The second one there, under "overhead momentary reduction":  Toronto Hydro is conducting a pilot for Overhead Momentary Reduction -- sorry.

"Toronto Hydro is conducting a pilot for Overhead Momentary Reduction study for this program during 2015 to 2019.  It involves the installation of reclosers and communication infrastructure to minimize momentary interruptions to customers.  Toronto Hydro plans to install four reclosers on the system in 2019.  Toronto Hydro will assess technical issues of implementation, such as relay coordination, as well as practical benefits to reliability prior to determining the feasibility and benefits of the study."

So has the pilot begun for this program?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  The project is underway.  I just can't confirm if the reclosers have all been installed as of today.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  And will customers see benefits during the test period from this particular work?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  You are asking specifically of the pilot locations that we are looking to install?

MS. GRICE:  That, and potentially any further implementation.  Are there any benefits attached to this during the test period?  Or is it still early days, you're in your pilot phase, and...

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It still is early days.  The challenge that we have is within a city such as Toronto's, where feeders are generally relatively short, we've had some challenges trying to coordinate the protective devices.  So these are pilot installations.  We will be looking to get the results from those pilots before we endeavour to make any additional investments in this particular area.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Well, we did say we would keep working until five o'clock, so I think we are going to forge on ahead, if Ms. DeMarco is available to start.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  I am going to apologize first and foremost to the panel for talking through the pillar.  If you want me to move, I am happy to, if that is easier for you.

MS. ANDERSON:  We can see you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel, and I hope to focus on the distributed energy resource aspects of your application and specifically, I would like to canvas three main areas.

The first is the current status of distributed energy resources, or DERs, relevant to your capital plan and application.

The second is the anticipated future role of DERs during the 2020-2024 period, and the third is looking at how Toronto Hydro has treated DERs in the DSP and the application.

So, Mr. Taki, I suspect that you and I will be doing most of the talking this afternoon.

First, let's start with a definition of DERs -- oh, let me first mark as an exhibit our compendium if I could, and Mr. Millar you are going to have to help me out what the appropriate number is.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Exhibit K3.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  DRC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1



MS. DeMARCO:  So if I can ask you, assuming you all have copies of our compendium, including the panel, to turn to tab number 3, page 018 of the sequentially numbered pages of our compendium.  You've got that up.

Charles, do you have one?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.

[compendium distributed to witness panel

and Mr. Keizer]

MS. DeMARCO:  You've got that now?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  At tab 3 at page 018 or 18 of the sequentially numbered pages, I have an excerpt from the IESO.

And just if I could to ensure that we're all on the same page, it defines distributed energy resources as electricity producing resources or controllable loads that are directly connected to a local distribution system, or connected to a host facility within the local distribution system.  Do you see that?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you would agree that that's part of the definition of distributed energy resources?

MR. TAKI:  I mean, it's the IESO's definition and I don't have any particular issues with it.

It's not necessarily a definition that Toronto Hydro has put forward.

MS. DeMARCO:  But you don't disagree with that definition?

MR. TAKI:  It's a definition.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am going to ask you to be clear on this point.  You don't disagree with that definition?

MR. TAKI:  I think what I mean is that distributed energy resources can be defined in this way, so I am comfortable proceeding on your further questions on it.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I will just ask you to continue reading where the IESO appears to define specific distributed energy resources, including solar panels, combined heat and power plants, electricity storage, small natural gas-fuelled generators, electric vehicles and controllable loads such as HVAC systems, electric water heaters.

You would agree that each and all of those are distributed energy resources?

MR. TAKI:  Based on their definition, I think these are appropriate examples.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And now let's move into the substance on the current status of DERs in your Distribution System Plan and the application.

If I can ask you to turn to tab 7, and specifically at pages 44 and 45, your evidence appears to confirm that innovation including DERs are changing Toronto Hydro's traditional supply and demand parameters.  Is that correct?

I am referring specifically to the bottom paragraph of page 044.

MR. TAKI:  Do you mind repeating your question?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, no problem.  Your evidence appears to confirm that innovation, including distributed energy resources, are changing Toronto Hydro's traditional supply and demand parameters.  Is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And on tab 18 of our materials at page 110 of the sequentially numbered paragraphs, in relation to your overview of distribution assets, you indicate that Toronto Hydro is playing an important role in the service territory in new technologies, including distributed generation and energy resources.  Is that right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And if I can ask you to turn to tab 20, please, at page 115 and specifically at page 146 of that tab, your capital expenditure plan itself includes distributed energy resources, including the Metrolinx projects and the TTC Arrow garage.  That's right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And at tab 21 at page 159 of the materials, in terms of your system service improvements, you also include distributed energy resources in the form of battery storage during the term of your capital plan.  Is that right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  On page 159 as part of our local demand response program, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And the system service investments.  Is that fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  This particular program is within the system service category, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And at tab 22, at page 181, it appears that in 2017 alone, you responded to over 8,000 enquiries from customers and developers looking to connect distributed generation.  Do I have that right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you anticipate to have 800 megawatts of distributed energy resources in the form of energy storage by 2024, is that right?

MR. TAKI:  The 800-megawatt figure there is not limited to energy storage.  So it includes all types of distributed generation connections, including energy storage.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So that would include, for example, electric vehicles?

MR. TAKI:  That would include solar and natural gas.  Electric vehicles, you're talking about vehicles to grid, and there's an interrogatory that responds to that question, if you just give me a moment.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe it is an undertaking response.  If I can direct you to it, it is --

MR. TAKI:  Sure.

MS. DeMARCO:  It is I believe it is JTC4.23 and you confirm in fact there is no electric -- sorry, EV to grid projects.

But in relation to the 800-megawatt factor, does it include any electric vehicles, not just vehicle to grid parameters?

MR. TAKI:  If it's not a vehicle to grid, what would it be, in terms of a distributed energy resource?

MS. DeMARCO:  For example, connecting significant fleets of electric vehicles, it doesn't include that.  Does it?

MR. TAKI:  For the purpose of that 800-megawatt figure, we're looking at sources of energy, and simple, you know, electric vehicle loads, whether they're buses or cars, we would not have considered to be as a resource under that 800-megawatt figure.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Let me just depart for a second.  I am going to ask you to turn to tab 2, at page 014 of the compendium.  And this is an excerpt from the TTC's green initiatives.  Third paragraph down, on page 14.  There is a paragraph starting "fun fact".  Do you see that?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And that says:

"During long-term hydro power outages or in the event of an emergency, there is potential for these buses to serve as mobile power plants.  A bus with a 440,000-watt battery on board can be plugged into a building, such as an emergency response centre or hospital, to provide electricity."

Is that accurate?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, I read that, and we would consider that vehicle to grid, which is what I had described earlier.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So that is not included in that 800-megawatt figure?

MR. TAKI:  Again, I would just like to go back to that undertaking response.  I think you said it was 4-point --


MS. DeMARCO:  It is tab 30 of our compendium, I believe.  It is at page 304 of our compendium.

MR. TAKI:  JTC4.23?

MS. DeMARCO:  That's not the one we're looking for, apologies.

MR. TAKI:  Yeah, no, I don't think it is that one either.

MS. DeMARCO:  It is the one before, tab 29, I believe.  Yes.  JTC2.30.

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's the one.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's the one you are looking for.  So no electric vehicles included in that 800 megawatts; is that right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  No, what we would consider to be vehicle to grid.

MS. DeMARCO:  Or other form of electric vehicle resources?

MR. TAKI:  Well, from our perspective at this point, we see as vehicle to grid as the only technology as it comes to electric vehicles or fleet being a resource on the system.

So that is why we sort of limited it to vehicle to grid.  As the technology evolves, we would consider similar types of technologies as -- in a similar fashion.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to tab 23, which I understand to be a report prepared for you by London Economics; is that right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, this is a report that was produced for us.  This was done in conjunction to a program that will be covered by panel 2, and Mr. Nahyaan can speak to this particular report.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in relation to page 200, which is actually page 15 of that report, London Economics speaks directly in the bottom paragraph to:

"Fundamental changes to the advancement of industry trends such as DERs that will impact distribution grids."

Is that right?

MR. KEIZER:  Again, if it is about the actual control or operation of the grid, panel 2 and Mr. Nahyaan on that panel is best able to respond to the implications of DERs and the control centre and the purpose for which this report was prepared.

MS. DeMARCO:  It is just the general impact that London Economics is speaking to that I believe this panel is most suited to respond to, that DERs result in fundamental changes.  Is that fair?

MR. TAKI:  I would agree that DERs do result in changes to distribution grids.  Whether they're fundamental or not, I think that is a subjective term.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am just quoting their term.

MR. TAKI:  You have quoted them correctly.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  So London Economics feels it is a fundamental change.  Fair?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I don't think he is here to interpret London Economics' words.  It is a report prepared by London Economics.  You can interpret it based upon the words which they have stated.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am happy to leave it at that in relation to their own words.

I am going to ask you to turn to page 202 of that report.  And London Economics appears to indicate that as of 2017 there were over 4,000 megawatts of contracted and DER-installed capacity.  Is that fair?

MR. KEIZER:  Again, if you are asking to confirm that is what London Economics says, that is what is in the report.  I mean, I think it is only fair to ask something within the knowledge of the witness himself.

MS. DeMARCO:  Do you have any reason to disagree with that, Mr. Taki?

MR. TAKI:  I don't currently have the quantity of contract and installed DER capacity in Ontario.

MS. DeMARCO:  Given that this is part of your evidence, I assume that you felt it was accurate?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it's actually evidence that is underpinning the testimony of Mr. Nahyaan on panel 2.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am happy to bring that toward to panel 2 if that is more appropriate.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Would the same be true of the 9,000 interconnections that are anticipated?  Is that best brought to panel 2?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, panel 2, if you are referring to the London Economics' report, then that report is -- you know, lies with panel 2.  In terms of its support for the control centre, we do not have London Economics appearing as a witness on panel 2.  We just...

MS. DeMARCO:  Fair to say that there is no reason to disagree with the trends or the general direction outlined by London Economics?  Is that fair at a high-level system planning perspective?

MR. KEIZER:  I'm not sure that any witness on this panel is in a position to contradict or confirm what London Economics is necessarily saying.  They have said it as an expert that has been put forward by this -- on the basis of their report.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am happy to leave it at the expert report that is on the record.

If I can ask you to turn to tab 24.  I understand here that DERs have been identified as part of your own fleet and equipment service investments.  Is that fair?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  Sorry.  I just was going to say that if you are going to explore the fleet in detail, with respect to the general plant portion of the DSP, which includes fleet, then that is also included in panel 2.

MS. DeMARCO:  Very generally, there are electric vehicles included in your own fleet.

MR. TAKI:  Yes, there are.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

A question for you, Ms. Cipolla, if I can ask in relation to your updated financial statements.  And I apologize.  This is the one exhibit that is not included in our compendium.

If I can refer you to Exhibit U, tab 1C, starting with schedule 4, which I understand to be your updated financial statements...


MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Just one moment, Ms. DeMarco, we're going to bring that up in our notes.

MS. DeMARCO:  No problem.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, I have that.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I understand that you would oversee the preparation of the financial statements and sign-off on them ultimately; is that fair?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Effectively, what they are is a representation of the material financial and risk parameters to the company.  Is that fair?

MS. CIPOLLA:  The financial statements are the representation of the financial records as produced under the International Financial Reporting Standards, and Toronto Hydro's application of those.

MS. DeMARCO:  And that would include material risks.  Is that fair?

MS. CIPOLLA:  In this particular document, which is our management discussion and analysis, yes, for the year end December 31st, 2018, it would include risks assessment.

MS. DeMARCO:  Material risks.  Is that fair?

MS. CIPOLLA:  That's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  You wouldn't expect something that was immaterial to appear in your financial statements?

MS. CIPOLLA:  This is a supplementary document to the financial statements.  And so it would consider risks that are material to the organization as a whole, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And can I ask you to turn to page 134 of 460?  It is page 28 of what I believe to be your version.

Specifically in the second-last paragraph on that page, you indicate that included in your material operations risk and material asset management risk, the adoption of electric vehicles is one of those risks?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Ms. DeMarco, we just need to reconcile the pages.  In the document in pre-filed evidence, risk begins on page 30, and I am just trying to determine the page here.

MS. DeMARCO:  What the Board has up on the screen right now, I believe it is page 28 and it starts, at "operations risk" and the first heading is Asset Management Risk.

MS. CIPOLLA:  May I please see what reference this is, please?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  I have the correct document, thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  So again, apologies for not having it in the compendium.  In relation to operations risk and specifically asset management risk, you identify and your statement says adoption of electric vehicles is one of those risks.

I am in the second last paragraph, about six lines up from the bottom.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, I see that.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so that is one of the risks, adoption of electric vehicles.  Fair?

MS. CIPOLLA:  What I would say is that we identify our risks through our risk assessment and our enterprise risk management approach.

We determine the key risks for the organization, one of which is operational risk.  Underneath that are various elements that are noted within this document, such as asset management risk, security risk, business interruption risk, underneath operational risk.

What we do under those is we describe elements of those risks and so specifically in asset management, we list out considerations of risk.

MS. DeMARCO:  And included in that is electric vehicle adoption?

MS. CIPOLLA:  As an element of that risk factor.

MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  And fair to say -- I am cognizant of my time -- the same statement appears in the annual information form at schedule 5.  In my notes, it is page 178 of the document and the corresponding document is page 34 of the AIF.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  Shall I leave it there for the day, Madam Chair, and return?  Just to give the panel a heads-up.

MS. ANDERSON:  That's a good plan.  We will reconvene here with you tomorrow at 9:30.

MR. GARNER:  Madam Chair, it is Mark Garner.  May I just raise a very small and probably inopportune technical issue after listening to this?

I am up tomorrow.  I have a compendium.  That compendium is some sixty-odd pages. It is drawn from the record and just out of the abundance of paper and ending up in the bin and et cetera, what I propose is simply to provide that electronically except for a little subset that is actually not in the record, unless you would prefer to have printed copies and of course I look to my friends over there if they prefer that.

I am just trying to provide copies that are ending up in the -- have no value.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think the panel's preference is hard copies for ourselves.  I don't know about the witnesses.

MR. KEIZER:  We will discuss after and speak to Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I could just advise the panel and the other intervenors that we have done effectively that.  We have provided you and the witness panel with the full compendium, and then the other intervenors with just a subset of the documents that are not in evidence.

MS. ANDERSON:  Understood.  Thank you.  So, yes, Mr. Garner you will discuss with parties.

So we will see you tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:06 p.m.
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